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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of CP ALL Public Company Limited

Opinion

I have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of CP ALL Public Company Limited and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and of CP ALL Public Company Limited (the “Company”), respectively,
which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
the consolidated and separate statements of income and comprehensive income, changes in equity and
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

In my opinion, the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Group and the Company, respectively, as at 31 December
2021 and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Thai
Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing (“TSAs™). My responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Group and the Company
in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Federation of Accounting
Professions that is relevant to my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, and I have
fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit
evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgment, were of most significance in my audit
of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and in forming my
opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KPMG Phoomchai Audit Ltd., a Thai limited liability company and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved
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Valuation of inventories

Refer to notes 3(g) and 9 to the financial statements

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The valuation of inventories was focused on because
the estimation of net realisable value of inventories
involves management’s judgment relating to

estimate quantity and valuation for deteriorated,
damaged, obsolete and slow-moving and shrinkage
inventories. I considered this to be a key audit matter.

My audit procedures included the following:

e Understood the inventory control and
management policy and the estimation of net
realisable value of inventories.

e Tested a sample of the aging of inventory
and the reasonableness of assumptions used
to set the percentage of deteriorated,
damaged, obsolete, slow-moving and
shrinkage inventories determined by
management and compared that percentage
with information for destruction and shrinkage
inventories.

e Tested a sample of selling prices post year-
end and the estimated costs to make the sale
with related documents including
recalculation of net realisable value.

e Considered the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in accordance with Thai
Financial Reporting Standards.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

Refer to notes 3(j), 3(k), 3(m), 16 and 17 to the financial statements

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

The Group has significant goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite useful life which
was mainly arising from a business acquisition.

The management normally assesses the impairment
from the estimated recoverable amount at the end of
the period. The recoverable amount was based on its
value in use, determined by discounting future cash
flows to be generated from the continuing use of
assets and related assumptions.

The judgments of management required to be

applied over assumptions and the inherent

uncertainty involved in forecasting and discounting
future cash flows. I considered this to be a key audit
matter.

My audit procedures included the following:

e Understood the process of the estimated
recoverable amount to assess the impairment.

e Considered the key assumptions in the
estimated recoverable amount reports, which
were approved by management, by
comparing the actual operation results,
industry trends and information derived
from external and internal sources and
assessed financial methodologies used by
the Group and discount rate and performed
sensitivity analysis around the key
assumptions.

e Considered the adequacy of the Group's
disclosures in accordance with Thai
Financial Reporting Standards.
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Business combination by entire business transfer

Refer to notes 3(a), 4 to the financial statements

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in the audit

On 25 October 2021, the Group completed business
combination by entire business transfer of Lotus’s
Group. The Group has engaged independent valuers
to estimate fair value of identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed, including consideration
transferred, which result in the recording of
provisional intangible assets of Baht 5,221 million
and provisional goodwill of Baht 232,545 million
in the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021.

Due to the materiality, complexities of the
transactions, and the significant judgement involved
in identification and determining the fair value of
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
including consideration transferred, I considered
this to be a key audit matter.

My audit procedures included the following:

e Inquired management and read the entire
business transfer agreements to understand
key objective, terms and conditions of the
transactions.

e Evaluated appropriateness of the
identification of all the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed by
the Group.

e Evaluated knowledge, competency and
independence of the independent valuer of
the Group.

e Evaluated appropriateness of assumptions
and methodologies underpinning the
valuations of the fair value of identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
including consideration transferred in
independent valuer’s draft appraisal report
and tested calculation.

e Involved KPMG valuation specialist to
evaluate the financial parameters applied to
the discount rate, identification of the
intangible assets, valuation methodology
used and calculation rationale.

e Assessed the adequacy of the disclosure in
accordance with Thai Financial Reporting
Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

I draw attention to note 4 to the financial statements, during the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
completed the business combination by entire business transfer of Lotus’s Group, the independent valuers
are still in the process of appraising the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
from the business combination. For the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021, the Group has provisionally estimated the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed from the business combination by considering information in the draft appraisal report
obtained from the independent valuers and recorded the difference between the consideration trasferred and
values of the assets and liabilities in the account “Goodwill” amounting to Baht 232,545 million. As at the
reporting date, the reviews of appraisal report have not yet been completed therefore the determination of the
fair value and the allocation of the consideration transferred was determined provisionally and is subject to
potential amendment. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.




KkbME

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated and separate financial statements and
my auditor’s report thereon.

My opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and
I will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, my responsibility is
to read the other information above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged
with governance and request that the correction be made. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate
financial statements in accordance with TFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Group and the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s and the Company’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with TSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.
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e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in
my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group and the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
I am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. I remain solely
responsible for my audit opinion.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that I identify during my audit.

I also provide those charged with governance with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, I determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. I describe these matters in my auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, I determine
that a matter should not be communicated in my report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

(Munchupa Singsuksawat)

Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 6112

KPMG Phoomchai Audit Ltd.
Bangkok
24 February 2022



CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of financial position

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments

Trade accounts receivable
Other current receivables
Short-term loans to subsidiaries
Inventories

Derivatives assets

Other current assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries
Investment in associate
Investments in joint ventures
Investments in related companies
Other long-term investments
Other non-current receivables
Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets other than goodwill
Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Note

58
58

59
34

11
10
10
5, 34

13
5 14
15
16
3; 17
31

Consolidated

financial statements

31 December

2021

92,347,866,825
4,785,739,471
3,340,619,443
13,744,697,837

50,534,771,233

2020

Separate

financial statements

31 December

2021

(in Baht)

40,589,081,046
36,568,950
1,650,221,749
7,177,743,244

31,748,781,315

19,457,191,000
161,694,336
8,782,826,158
7,654,964,500
16,316,273,366

2020

21,577,546,296
251,727,193
5,264,342,188
5,500,000,000
15,107,036,417

608,936,805 513,478 - -
410,481,036 222,880,116 168,922,690 184,671,983
165,773,112,650 81,425,789,898 52,541,872,050 47,885,324,077

9,139,468,357
4,875,371,520
820,820,832
2,041,800
224,077,941
45,488,687,686
211,533,291,450
77,266,393,792
360,641,443,961
51,115,273,741

85,552,404,610
34,000,000
2,041,800
170,938,304
332,832,502
120,176,726,188
52,898,697,527
128,096,020,528
51,706,294,153

281,356,774,084

526,070,832

40,782,361,168
38,726,575,504

2,310,531,960

201,010,496,273
85,634,847,791
34,000,000
39,046,981,901
41,010,868,851

1,973,594,681

2,598,613,704 1,786,493,870 1,842,702,912 1,117,351,038
2,413,966,984 1,172,090,328 1,096,923,169 1,290,810,764
766,119,451,768  441,928,539,810  366,641,939,629  371,118,951,299
931,892,564,418  523,354,329,708  419,183,811,679  419,004,275,376

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of financial position

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings from
financial institutions

Trade accounts payable

Other payables

Contract liabilities

Short-term borrowings from

subsidiary

Short-term borrowings from

other parties

Current portion of debentures

Current portion of long-term
borrowings from financial institutions

Current portion of lease liabilities

Income tax payable

Current derivatives liabilities

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Debentures

Long-term borrowings from

financial institutions

Lease liabilities

Provisions for employee benefits
Other non-current provisions
Rental deposits from tenants
Accrued guarantee deposits
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current derivatives liabilites
Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Note

18, 34
5,19, 34
5,20, 34

25

518

18, 34
18, 34

18, 34
5,18, 34

34

18, 34

18, 34
5,18, 34
21
22
5, 34
34
31
34

Consolidated

financial statements

31 December

2021

42,690,844,508
106,863,249,856
31,802,846,357
815,803,105

16,997,834,499

2,368,606,438
9,942,875,276
1,338,574,635

2020

Separate

financial statements

31 December

2021

(in Baht)

1,050,248,650
72,777,713,069
14,799,539,482
957,796,709

6,007,420
14,500,841,304

5,324,505,824
7,400,519,692
1,210,134,515

13,492,976,226
38,701,165,419
14,596,201,492

1,400,000,000

16,997,834,499

6,709,803,060

2020

36,492,527,894
15,521,456,203

14,500,841,304

6,772,163,533

831,727,942 4,387,302,372 118,111,175 4,386,416,127
1,235,700,633 859,961,090 695,346,672 641,007,820
214,888,063,249  123,274,570,127 92,711,438,543 78,314,412,881
205,351,363,635 138,494,974,464  205,351,363,635 138,494,974,464
106,327,990,554 83,007,576,748 - 79,620,397,657

78,597,183,378
6,643,514,241
2,574,938,243
2,474,694,825
3,518,951,986
17,848,389,315
172,710,535

43,182,892,255
5,085,198,792
76,395,679
31,683,010
3,633,861,139
14,946,902,816

33,408,291,712
2,880,459,809
180,000,000
3,529,805,025

35,246,188,174
2,866,139,225

3,621,843,281

687,537,400 25,244,743 = -
424,197,274,112  288,484,729,646  245,349,920,181  259,849,542,801
639,085,337,361  411,759,299,773  338,061,358,724  338,163,955,682

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of financial position

Liabilities and equity (Continued) Note

Equity
Share capital
Authorised share capital
(8,986 million ordinary shares,
par value at Baht 1 per share)
Issued and paid-up share capital
(8,983 million ordinary shares,
par value at Baht | per share)
Additional paid-in capital 23
Premium on ordinary shares
Surplus (deficit) from changes in ownership
interests in subsidiaries and associate 23

Retained earnings

Appropriated
Legal reserve 23
Unappropriated
Perpetual subordinated debentures 24
Other components of equity 23

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests 12

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Consolidated

financial statements

31 December

2021

8,986,296,048

2020

Separate

financial statements

31 December

2021

(in Baht)

8,986,296,048

8,986,296,048

2020

8,986,296,048

8,983,101,348

1,684,316,879

288,832,931

8,983,101,348

1,684,316,879

(1,462,713,268)

8,983,101,348

1,684,316,879

8,983,101,348

1,684,316,879

900,000,000 900,000,000 900,000,000 900,000,000
72,342,210,355 68,357,833,009 49,384,148,362 49,363,747,267
19,911,229,700 19,909,154,200 19,911,229,700 19,909,154,200

24,435,462 (1,612,948,189) 259,656,666 -
104,134,126,675 96,758,743,979 81,122,452,955 80,840,319,694
188,673,100,382 14,836,285,956 - -
292,807,227,057  111,595,029,935 81,122,452,955 80,840,319,694
931,892,564,418  523,354,329,708  419,183,811,679  419,004,275,376

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of income

Revenues

Revenue from sale of goods and

rendering of services

Interest income

Dividend income

Net foreign exchange gain

Gain from sale of investments in subsidiaries

Other income

Total revenues

Expenses

Cost of sale of goods and

rendering of services

Distribution costs

Administrative expenses
Impairment for loss on

intangible assets other than goodwill

Total expenses

Profit from operating activities

Gain on step acquisition

Share of loss of associate and joint ventures
accounted for using equity method

Profit before finance costs and

income tax expense (income)

Finance costs

Profit before income tax expense (income)

Income tax expense (income)

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Profit for the year

Basic earnings per share (in Baht)

Note

11
27

17

4

10

5,30

31

12

32

Consolidated

financial statements

For the year ended

31 December

Separate

financial statements

For the year ended

31 December

2021 2020 2021 2020
(in Baht)

565,207,287,399  525,884,319,399 290,228,104,650  300,705,032,096
128,881,597 156,535,609 266,982,122 337,590,810
336,633 299,638 7,064,481,560 6,768,016,930
407,191,807 225,976,671 359,448,769 146,908,098
1,317,482,006 - 1,710,600,000 -
20,535,772,455 20,322,864,346 20,805,744,385 20,572,106,313
587,596,951,897  546,589,995,663 320,435,361,486  328,529,654,247
444,838,444,699  410,880,026,805 210,777,774,677  216,980,999,314
97,680,470,375  91,135,550,810  77,326,834,550  77,152,016,030

19,186,391,197

7,159,086,365

16,722,647,070

13,109,431,577

11,981,566,379

568,864,392,636  518,738,224,685  301,214,040,804  306,114,581,723
18,732,559,261 27,851,770,978 19,221,320,682 22,415,072,524
6,714,300,702 - - -
(226,474,305) (63,415,210) - -
25,220,385,658 27,788,355,768 19,221,320,682 22,415,072,524
12,643,003,583 8,525,992,023 11,008,736,186 7,822,083,157
12,577,382,075 19,262,363,745 8,212,584,496 14,592,989,367
524,889,499 2,759,491,185 (819,095,505) 295,026,227
12,052,492,576 16,502,872,560 9,031,680,001 14,297,963,140

12,985,479,957

16,102,416,901

9,031,680,001

14,297,963,140

(932,987,381) 400,455,659 . .
12,052,492,576  16,502,872,560 9,031,680,001  14,297,963,140
1.33 1.68 0.89 1.48

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of comprehensive income

Consolidated

financial statements

31 December

Separate

financial statements

31 December

Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in Baht)
Profit for the year 12,052,492,576 16,502,872,560 9,031,680,001 14,297,963,140
Other comprehensive income
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating
financial statements 1,522,000,516 558,361,729 - -
Loss on cash flow hedges 31, 34 (66,468,535) (4.698,469,364) - (4,698.,469,364)
Gain on cash flow hedges 34 2,563,874,518 391,556,381 2,563,874,518 391,556,381
Income tax relating to components
of other comprehensive income on
loss on cash flow hedges 31, 34 13,293,707 - - -
Gain on cash flow hedges reclassified
to profit or loss 34 (2,632,109,509) (391,556,381) (2,563,874.518) (391,556,381)
Share of other comprehensive income of
investments accounted for using equity method 70 364,271,376 (19,027,971) - -
Share of other comprehensive income of
investments accounted for using equity method
reclassified to profit or loss (345,243,405) - - -
1,419,618,668 (4,159,135,606) - (4,698,469,364)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Gain on investments in equity instruments
designated at FVOCI 31,34 324,570,832 - 324,570,832 -
Income tax relating to gain on investments in
equity instruments designated at FVOCI 31 (64,914,166) - (64,914,166) -
Gain on remeasurements of
defined benefit plans 2131 276,107,066 50,769,512 150,734,759 61,123,702
Income tax relating to components
of other comprehensive income on
gain on remeasurements of defined
benefit plans 31 (54,591,259) (8,512,201) (30,146,952) (12,224,741)
481,172,473 42,257,311 380,244,473 48,898,961
Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of income tax 1,900,791,141 (4,116,878,295) 380,244,473 (4,649,570,403)
Total comprehensive income for the year 13,953,283,717 12,385,994,265 9,411,924,474 9,648,392,737

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of comprehensive income

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 31 December
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in Baht)
Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 14,819,668,002 11,984,494,957 9,411,924,474 9,648,392,737
Non-controlling interests 12 (866,384,285) 401,499,308 - -
Total comprehensive income
for the year 13,953,283,717 12,385,994,265 9,411,924,474 9,648,392,737

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Statement of cash flows

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 31 December
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

(in Baht)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year

Adjustments to reconcile profit to cash receipts

Depreciation of investment properties

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Amortisation of intangible assets
other than goodwill

Interest income

Dividend income

Gain from sale of investments in subsidiaries

Finance costs
Income tax expense (income)
Provisions for employee benefits
Loss (reversal of allowance for loss)
on decline in value of inventories
Reversal of impairment loss on
investment properties
Impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on intangible assets
other than goodwill
Impairment loss on trade accounts
receivable and other receivables

Unrealised gain on exchange

Share of loss of associate and joint ventures

accounted for using equity method
Loss on disposal and write-off of
investment properties
Loss on disposal and write-off of
property, plant and equipment
Gain on disposal and write-off of

right-of-use assets

13

14

15

17

11

30

31
21

13

14
15

17

10

12,052,492,576
748,587,692
12,386,127,286
10,460,698,642
890,625,540
(128,881,597)
(336,633)
(1,317,482,006)
12,643,003,583
524,889,499
468,557,582
1,990,950,963

(1,302,869)

79,556,019
79,950,427

7,159,086,365

365,631,399
(109,198,593)

226,474,305

4,795,198

192,528,585

(147,266,512)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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16,502,872,560

10,892,144,839
9,003,221,459

754,584,359
(156,535,609)
(299,638)

8,525,992,023
2,759,491,185
419,535,305

113,523,020

39,000

49,178,294
(59,462,879)

63,415,210

139,295,729

(163,646,378)

9,031,680,001

7,165,993,582
8,681,426,114

329,277,194
(266,982,122)
(7,064,481,560)
(1,710,600,000)

11,008,736,186
(819,095,505)

211,920,196

(62,554)

1,953,594
(125,214,500)

67,941,574

(123,610,949)

14,297,963,140

6,754,924,481
7,808,152,359

288,737,371
(337,590,810)
(6,768,016,930)
7,822,083,157
295,026,227
214,921,920

54,366,821

6,150,719
(43,331,879)

126,454,907

(158,498,343)



CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of cash flows (Continued)

Loss (gain) on write-off of intangible assets
other than goodwill
Differences on a granted rent concession
Share of other comprehensive income
of investments accounted
for using equity method

Gain on step acquisition

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Trade accounts receivable

Other receivables

Inventories

Derivatives assets

Other current assets

Other non-current assets

Trade accounts payable

Other payables

Contract liabilities

Derivatives liabilities

Other current liabilities

Provisions for employee benefits paid

Transferred in of provisions for
employee benefits

Other non-current provisions

Rental deposits from tenants

Accrued guarantee deposits

Other non-current liabilities

Net cash generated from operating

Income tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

Consolidated

financial statements

For the year ended

31 December

Separate

financial statements

For the year ended

31 December

Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in Baht)
19,093,327 (866,887) 19,090,382 29,227
(577,695,910) 33,423,507 (577,695,910) 33,423,507
10 (345,243,405) - - -
4 (6,714,300,702) - = -
50,951,340,761 48,875,905,099 25,830,275,723 30,394,795,874
(901,120,426) 19,755,740 90,032,857 (135,635,472)
(2,696,146,082) 624,256,385 (1,499,511,250) 119,921,007
(6,299,338,420) (324,450,123) (1,209,174,395) (477,561,322)
(102,810,823) (513,478) (77,188,831) -
(226,524,934) 77,504,361 (6,092,784) 89,312,667
648,722,968 (188,107,194) 193,887,595 (52,844,075)
11,796,367,116 (5,770,446,931) 2,208,637,525 (4,839,130,562)
(3,232,022,455) (408,888,103) (1,694,778,804) (2,312,293,727)
(141,993,604) 163,632,790 - -
(22,316,128) 886,245 68,984,035 -
373,771,043 (48,636,552) 54,338,851 2,930,031
21 (160,697,173) (127,100,290) (50,873,273) (60,060,642)
21 5,250,133 898,000 4,008,420 599,710
332,045,132 76,395,679 - -
(175,822,104) 31,683,010 - -
156,513,052 (292,515,390) (92,038,256) (236,984,585)
(104,450,642) (2,572,277) 180,000,000 -
50,200,767,414 42,707,686,971 24,000,507,413 22,493,048,904
(3,881,946,684) (3,559,342,664) (663,352,614) (1,102,964,540)
46,318,820,730 39,148,344,307 23,337,154,799 21,390,084,364

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of cash flows (Continued)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Dividends received
Dividends received from associate
Acquisition of current investments
Proceeds from sale of current investments
Cash outflow on short-term loans to
subsidiaries
Proceeds from repayment of short-term
loans to subsidiaries
Cash outflow on investments in subsidiaries
Proceeds from sale of investments in subsidiaries
Cash outflow on investment in associate
Proceeds from sale of investments in
related companies
Cash outflow on investments in related companies
Acquisition of investment properties
Proceeds from sale of investment properties
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant
and equipment
Acquisition of right-of-use assets
Proceeds from sale of right-of-use assets
Acquisition of intangible assets
other than goodwill
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets
other than goodwill
Cash inflow on entire business transfer

Net cash used in investing activities

Note

10

11
11
10

Consolidated

financial statements

For the year ended

31 December

Separate

financial statements

For the year ended

31 December

2021 2020 2021 2020
(in Baht)
103,300,820 163,033,150 260,090,937 323,054,882
336,633 299,638 7,064,481,560 6,768,016,930
81,162,222 - - -
(809,039,471) (110,000,000) - -
2,036,554,700 730,928,072 - -
- - (3,799,750,000) (233,000,000)
- - 1,770,000,000 849,500,000
- - (1,182,830,020) (1,482,964,969)
- - 988,000,000 -
- (80,936,378,427) - (80,936,378,427)
1,014,099,217 - - -
(362,250,000) - (67,500,000) -
(65,825,162) - - -
222,796 - - -
(14,071,553,335)  (15,387,288,294) (8,526,763,356)  (11,768,949,845)
263,450,634 124,774,445 137,799,914 81,144,629
(1,341,208,768) (981,966,880) (839,749,496) (787,396,460)
8,079,851 11,678,340 8,079,851 11,678,340
(2,278,332,314) (1,019,581,858) (681,586,415) (592,038,416)
159,122,137 - 158,320,151 -
13,165,259,377 - - -
(2,096,620,663) (97,404,501,814) (4,711,406,874) (87,767,333,336)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of cash flows (Continued)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares
of the subsidiary

Interest paid

Interest paid on perpetual
subordinated debentures

Dividends paid to equity holders of
the Company

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Payment of lease liabilities

Increases (decreases) in short-term borrowings

from financial institutions

Proceeds from short-term borrowings
from subsidiary

Repayment of short-term borrowings
from subsidiary

Repayment of short-term borrowings

from other parties

Cash outflow on forward exchange contracts

Proceeds from issue of debentures

Repayment of debentures

Proceeds from long-term borrowings
from financial institutions

Repayment of long-term borrowings
from financial institutions

Payment of front-end fees

Proceeds from issue of perpetual subordinated

debentures

Repayment of perpetual subordinated debentures

Proceeds from called for paid-up
share capital from subsidiaries

Proceeds from (payment of) changes in

ownership interests in subsidiaries without

a change in control

Net cash from (used in) financing activities

Note

24

33

18

18

18

18
18

18

18

24
24

12

Consolidated
financial statements
For the year ended

31 December

Separate
financial statements
For the year ended

31 December

2021

33,006,631,348
(8,616,802,578)

(1,000,000,000)

(8,084,778,526)

(332,105,588)

(9,853,735,115)

13,272,275,699

2020

2021

(in Baht)

(6,940,880,759)

(1,002,739,727)

(11,228,970,516)

(318,820,902)

(8,525,569,966)

(2,279,128,843)

(8,213,841,279)

(1,000,000,000)

(8,084,778,526)

(7,745,303,824)

13,428,442,000

1,400,000,000

2020

(6,620,422,207)

(1,002,739,727)

(11,228,970,516)

(7,316,678,298)

(2,500,000,000)

300,000,000

(1,000,000,000)

(6,007,420) (8,762,236) - -
(1,696,225,638) - (1,696,225,638) .
87,822,880,000  32,467,500,000  87,822,880,000  32,467,500,000

(18,502,100,000)  (12,289,800,000)  (18,502,100,000)  (12,289,800,000)

5,000,000,000  79,244,880,351 - 79,244.383,449

(89,187,803,367) (255,785,125)  (83,852,175,954) -

(5,508,147) - - -
9,955,000,000 - 9,955,000,000 .
(10,000,000,000) - (10,000,000,000) "
2,797,012 110,223,120 . -
5,735,628,000 (12,661,600) 5,742,000,000 =
7,510,145,680  68,959,483,797  (20,746,103221)  70,053,272,701

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Statement of cash flows (Continued)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents, before effect of
exchange rates

Effect of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents

Net increase (decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Supplemental disclosures of cash flows
information:
Investment properties purchased
during the year are detailed as follows:
Increases during the year

Paid by cash

Property, plant and equipment purchased
during the year are detailed as follows:

Increases during the year

(Less) add - changes in payables

(Less) - changes in other current assets

Paid by cash

Right-of-use assets acquired during
the year are detailed as follows:

Increases during the year

Less - lease liabilities

Add - changes in payables

Paid by cash

Other intangible assets other than goodwill
purchased during the year are detailed
as follows:

Increases during the year

(Less) add - changes in payables

Paid by cash

Note

13

14

38

15

17

Consolidated

financial statements

For the year ended

31 December

2021

51,732,345,747

2020

Separate

financial statements

For the year ended

31 December

2021

(in Baht)

10,703,326,290

(2,120,355,296)

2020

3,676,023,729

26,440,032 25,242,214 - 6,237,019
51,758,785,779 10,728,568,504 (2,120,355,296) 3,682,260,748
40,589,081,046 29,860,512,542 21,577,546,296 17,895,285,548
92,347,866,825 40,589,081,046 19,457,191,000 21,577,546,296

65,825,162 - - -

65,825,162 - - -

20,187,043,449

15,273,384,909

9,107,114,337

10,935,369,154

(6,093,648,037) 113,903,385 (558,508,904) 833,580,691
(21,842,077) = (21,842,077) -
14,071,553,335 15,387,288,294 8,526,763,356 11,768,949,845

10,804,087,392

13,892,491,849

8,873,396,015

12,624,392,622

(9,462,878,624)  (12,914,367,061) (8,033,646,519)  (11,836,996,161)
s 3,842,092 - -
1,341,208,768 981,966,880 839,749,496 787,396,461
2,287,217,917 1,008,800,894 843,625,007 573,383,094
(8,885,603) 10,780,964 (162,038,592) 18,655,322
2,278,332,314 1,019,581,858 681,586,415 592,038,416

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements issued for Thai statutory and regulatory reporting purposes are prepared in the
Thai language. These English language financial statements have been prepared from the Thai language
statutory financial statements, and were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
24 February 2022.

1 General information

CP ALL Public Company Limited, the “Company”, is incorporated in Thailand and was listed on the
Stock Exchange of Thailand on 14 October 2003. The company has its registered office at 313
C.P. Tower, 24™ Floor, Silom Road, Kwang Silom, Khet Bangrak, Bangkok 10500, Thailand.

The major shareholder of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group™) during
the financial year was Charoen Pokphand Group of companies.

The principal businesses of the Group are operating convenience stores, cash and carry, retail business
and mall rental, payment centers, and the related supporting services.

The Company operates convenience stores under the “7-Eleven” trademark and franchises to other
retailers in the territory of Thailand. The number of 7-Eleven convenience stores as at 31 December 2021
was 13,134 stores (2020: 12,432 stores).

2021 2020
(number of stores)
The Company owns and manages convenience stores 6,280 5,685
The Company franchises the license to other retailers
- under management agreements 6,020 5,919
- under sub-license agreements 834 828
Total 13,134 12,432

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are given in note 11 to the
financial statements.

2 Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS”),
guidelines promulgated by the Federation of Accounting Professions and applicable rules and regulations
of the Thai Securities and Exchange Commission. The financial statements are presented in Thai Baht,
which is the Company’s functional currency. The accounting policies described in note 3 to the
financial statements have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with TFRS requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies.
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised prospectively.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

(@)

Significant accounting policies
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group™) and the Group’s interests in associate and joint ventures.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method when the Group assess that the acquired set of activities and
assets include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the
Group, other than business combinations with entities under common control. Expenses in connection
with a business combination are recognised as incurred.

Goodwill is measured as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognised amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, less net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition date. Any gain on bargain purchase is recognised
in profit or loss immediately.

Consideration transferred is measured as the fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the previous equity holders of the acquiree and equity interests issued by the Group.
Consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration.

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition, and remeasured at
fair value at each reporting date. Subsequent changes in the fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

A contingent liability of the acquiree is assumed in a business combination only if such a liability
represents a present obligation and arises from a past event, and its fair value can be measured reliably.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or
additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Business combination under common control are accounted for using a method similar to the pooling
of interest method, by recognising assets and liabilities of the acquired businesses at their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate parent company at the transaction
date. The difference between the carrying amount of the acquired net assets and the consideration
transferred is recognised as surplus or deficit from business combinations under common control in
shareholder’s equity. The surplus or deficit will be written off upon divestment of the businesses
acquired. The results from operations of the acquired businesses will be inciuded in the consolidated
financial statements of the acquirer from the beginning of the comparative period or the moment the
businesses came under common control, whichever date is later, until control ceases.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to,
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which
control ceases.

Non-controlling interests

At the acquisition date, the Group measures any non-controlling interest at its proportionate interest in
the identifiable net assets of the acquiree. In addition, when there is a change in the Group’s interest in
a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control, any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received from the
acquisition or disposal of the non-controlling interests with no change in control are accounted for as
transactions in shareholders’ equity.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the
subsidiary, and any related non-controlling interests and other components of equity. Any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

Associate and joint ventures

Associate is the entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has
joint control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its
assets and obligations for its liabilities.

The Group recognised investments in the associate and joint ventures using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements. They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s
dividend income and share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity-accounted
investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any income and expenses are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains or losses arising from associate and joint
ventures are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

Investments in subsidiaries and associate

Investments in subsidiaries and associate in the separate financial statements of the Company are
measured at cost less accumulated allowance for impairment losses.
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Disposal of investments in the separate financial statements

On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.

If the Company disposes of part of its holding of a particular investment, the deemed cost of the part
sold is determined using the weighted average method applied to the carrying value of the total
holding of the investment.

Foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies including non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost in
foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional
currency at the exchange rates at the reporting date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the dates that fair value was determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in profit or loss. However,
foreign currency differences arising from the translation of qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent
the hedge that is effective are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Foreign entities

The assets and liabilities of foreign entities including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of foreign entities are translated to Thai Baht at the exchange rates at the reporting date.

The revenues and expenses of foreign entities are translated to Thai Baht at rates approximating the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange differences arising on translating are recognised in other comprehensive income and
presented in the translation reserve in equity until disposal of the investment, except to the extent that the
translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interests.

When a foreign entity is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or
joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign entity
is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. If the Group disposes of part of
its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of associate or joint
ventures while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign entity is neither
planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a
monetary item are considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign entity and are recognised in
other comprehensive income and presented in the translation reserve in equity until disposal of the
investment.
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Notes to the financial statements
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(d) Financial instruments
(d.1) Classification and measurement

Debt securities that the Group issued are initially recognised when they are originated. Other
financial assets and financial liabilities (except trade and other accounts receivable (see note 3(f)
to the financial statements) are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument, and measured at fair value, taking into account for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue securities, except for
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”),
which are initially and subsequently measured at fair value, and any transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue of the securities are recognised in profit or loss.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); or FVTPL. Financial assets are not reclassified
subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing
financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified prospectively from the
reclassification date.

On initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method or FVTPL. Interest expense, foreign exchange gains and losses and any
gain or loss on derecognition are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets measured at amortised costs are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by expected credit losses. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses, expected credit losses, and any gain or loss on
derecognition are recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividend
income is recognised as income in profit or loss on the date on which the Group’s right to receive
payment is established, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI”)
and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

(d.2) Derecognition and offset

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new
financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

The difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration received or paid
is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the amounts and the Group intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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(d.3) Derivatives

Derivatives are recognised at fair value and remeasured at fair value at each reporting date.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
except where the derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, in which case recognition
of any resultant gain or loss depends on nature of the item being hedged (see note 3(d.4) to the
financial statements).

(d.4) Hedging

At inception of designated hedging relationships, the Group documents the risk management
objective and strategy for undertaking the risk, the economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument, including consideration of the hedge effectiveness at the inception
of the hedging relationship and throughout the remaining period to determine the existence of
economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, the effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised in OCI and accumulated in the cash flow
hedges reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group designates only the change in fair value of the spot element of forward exchange
contracts as the hedging instrument in cash flow hedging relationships. The change in fair value
of the forward element of forward exchange contracts (forward points) is recognised in a cash
flow hedges reserve within equity.

When the hedged forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item
such as inventory and investment in associate, the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedges reserve
is included directly in the initial cost of the non-financial item when it is recognised.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the amount accumulated in the cash flow hedges reserve
is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the hedged expected
future cash flows affect profit or loss.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the hedging instrument is sold,
expires, is terminated or is exercised, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. When
hedge accounting for cash flow hedges is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in
the cash flow hedges reserve remains in equity until, for a hedge of a transaction resulting in the
recognition of a non-financial item, it is included in the non-financial item’s cost on its initial
recognition or, for other cash flow hedges, it is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or
periods as the hedged expected future cash flows affect profit or loss.

If the hedged future cash flows are no longer expected to occur, then the amounts that have been
accumulated in the cash flow hedges reserve are immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

(d.5) Impairment of financial assets other than trade and other accounts receivable

The Group recognises allowances for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on financial assets measured
at amortised cost.
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(e)

The Group recognises ECLs equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition or credit-impaired financial assets,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses based on forward-looking and historical
experience. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls discounted by
the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when its credit rating is equivalent
to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The Group recognises ECLs for low
credit risk financial assets as 12-month ECLs.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more
than 30 days past due, significant deterioration in credit rating, significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor and existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security; or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due

(d.6) Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonabie
expectations of recovering. Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off, are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(d.7) Interest

Interest income and expense is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. In
calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income
reverts to the gross basis. ‘

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise cash balances, call deposits and
highly liquid short-term investments which has a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Trade and other accounts receivable
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration.

A receivable is measured at transaction price less allowance for expected credit loss. Bad debts are
written off when incurred.
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The Group estimates lifetime expected credit losses (“ECLs”), using a provision matrix to find ECLs
rate. This method groups the debtors based on shared credit risk characteristics and past due status,
taking into account historical credit loss data, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both current economic conditions and forward-looking general economic conditions
at the reporting date.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost principle. Cost includes direct costs incurred in
acquiring the inventories. In the case of manufactured inventories and work-in-progress, cost includes
an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to complete
and to make the sale.

Investment properties

Investment properties are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property and
includes the cost of self-constructed assets.

Any gains and losses on disposal of investment properties are determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount of investment property, and are recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of investment properties
of 22 years to 99 years or according to lease term and recognised in profit or loss. No depreciation charged on
freehold land under investment properties.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes capitalised borrowing costs, and the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.

Any gains or losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and
are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item when the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Group, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss
as incurred.
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Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of
an asset and recognised in profit or loss. No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets under

construction.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings and building improvements 3 - 50 years
Right-of-use asset improvements over the lease period
Machinery and equipment 3 - 15 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 1 - 15 years
Others

- Electricity and water systems 5 - 20 years
- Vehicles 4 - 10 years
- Library book 5 years
Goodwill

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of equity-accounted
investee, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have indefinite useful lives are measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have definite
useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it will generate the future economic benefits.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets and
recognised in profit or loss. No amortisation is provided on computer software under development.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Computer software 1-10 years
Intellectual property indefinite useful lives
Business license 3, 10 years and indefinite useful lives
Customer base and other 7,10 and 15 years -
Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses that a contract is, or contains, a lease when it conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

As a lessee
At commencement or on modification of a contract, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices of each component. For

the leases of property, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease compenents and accounted for
the lease and non-lease components wholly as a single lease component.
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The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date, except
for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases which is recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset is measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
loss, and adjusted for any remeasurements of lease liability. The cost of right-of-use asset includes the
initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid lease payments, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of restoration costs, less any lease incentives received. Depreciation is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease
term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease
term or the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis as those
of property and equipment.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of all lease payments that shall be paid
under the lease. The Group uses the Group’s incremental borrowing rate to discount the lease
payments to the present value. The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining
interest rates from various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the
terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured
when there is a lease modification, or a change in options specified in the lease. When the lease
liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
Zero.

As alessor

At inception or on modification of a contract, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

At lease inception, the Group considers to classify a lease that transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to lessees as a finance lease. A lease that
does not meet this criteria is classified as an operating lease.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the Group classifies the sub-lease either as a finance lease
or an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. In case of a
head lease is a short-term lease, the sub-lease is classified as an operating lease. Those right-of-use
assets are presented as investment properties.

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease term as part of other income. Initial direct costs incurred in arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term
on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as rental income in the accounting
period in which they are earned

The Group estimates lifetime expected credit losses (“ECLs™), using a provision matrix to find ECLs
rate. This method groups the lease receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics and past due
status, taking into account historical credit loss data, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors
and an assessment of both current economic conditions and forward-looking general economic
conditions at the reporting date. The Group derecognises the lease receivables as disclosed in note 3(f) to
the financial statements.
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(m) Impairment of non-financial assets

(n

(0)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are
estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or are not yet available
for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s value in use and fair value less costs to sell. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversal of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Impairment losses recognised in prior periods
in respect of other non-financial assets is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to the customer. A contract liability is
recognised when the Group receives or has an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration from the customer before the Group recognises the related revenue.

Employee benefits

Post-employment benefit - defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to the Group’s provident funds are expensed as the related service is provided.
Post-employment benefit - defined benefit plans

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods.
The defined benefit obligations is discounted to the present value, which is performed annually by
a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, actuarial gain or loss are recognised immediately
in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the interest expense on the net defined benefit
liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at
the beginning of the annual period, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability
during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other
expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that
relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The
Group recognises gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs.
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Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted
to determine its present value. Remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months of the end of the reporting period, then they are discounted.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Perpetual subordinated debentures

Perpetual subordinated debentures which are payable upon dissolution are recognised as equity as the
Company has the sole right and discretion to early redemption as stipulated in terms and conditions of
debentures, and the interest and cumulative interest payment are unconditionally deferred without time
and number limitation and payable at the Company’s discretion. Accordingly, any interest payments
are recognised similar as dividends and directly in equity when payment obligation arises. Interest
payments are presented in the statement of cash flows at the same way as dividends paid to ordinary
shareholders. '

Measurement of fair values

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the
most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability
reflects its non-performance risk.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable market data as many
as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the
inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

- Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are based on unobservable input.
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The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting
period during which the change has occurred.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group
measures assets and asset positions at a bid price and liabilities and liability positions at an ask price.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the
transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is
evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on
a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation to
the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the
difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that
difference is recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no
later than when the valuation is wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is
closed out.

Revenues

Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains control of the goods or services in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected
on behalf of third parties, value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade .
discounts and volume rebates.

Sales of goods and rendering of services

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised on the date on which the goods are delivered to the
customers. For the sales that permit the customers to return the goods, the Group estimates the returns
based on the historical return data, does not recognise revenue for this transaction and remains
recognition of inventory for the estimated products to be returned. Revenue for rendering of services is
recognised over time as the services are provided.

Initial fees, royalties and exclusivity fees

The Company recognises the initial fee obtained under the Management Agreements of the
7-Eleven convenience stores upon completion of the required services for the franchisees.

The Company recognises the royalty fee arising from the license for operating its 7-Eleven
convenience stores over the period of the Management Agreements.

The Company has agreements with the merchandise suppliers to purchase their products to distribute
in the 7-Eleven convenience stores. Under the terms of the agreements, the Company is entitled to
charge exclusivity fees for the goods as specified in the agreements. In case of violation or
cancellation of the agreements by the Company without reasonable cause, the suppliers have rights to
a refund of such exclusivity fees according to the valuation of remaining period. But in case of
cancellation of the agreements by the merchandise suppliers, such exclusivity fees are non-refundable.
The Company recognises the exclusivity fees as income over the periods of agreements.

34



CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

@

(w

™)

Customer loyalty programmes

For customer loyalty programme that the Group offers to customers, the consideration received are
allocated based on the relative stand-alone selling price of the products and, the loyalty points or
discount from accumulated purchased volume. The amount allocated to the loyalty points or discount
from accumulated purchased volume is recognised as contract liabilities and revenue is recognised when
the customers redeem or when the likelihood of the customer redeeming becomes remote. The stand-
alone selling prices of the loyalty points or discount from accumulated purchased volume is estimated
based on discount provided to customers and the likelihood that the customers will redeem, and the
estimate shall be reviewed at the end of the reporting period.

Commission revenue

For the contracts that the Group is arranging for the provision of the goods or services on behalf of its
customers and does not control the goods or services before the primary sellers or service providers will
provide the goods or services to the customers. The Group acts in the capacity of an agent and recognises
the net amount of consideration as commission revenue.

Other income
Other operating income is recognised in profit or loss on a accrual basis.
Income tax

Income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax, which is recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is recognised in respect of the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognised for the temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
and joint ventures to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current
deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset in separate financial statements.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Earnings per share
The Group presents basic earnings per share (“EPS”) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated
by dividing the profit or loss for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company less

cumulative interest for the year on perpetual subordinated debentures whether it has been accrued or not
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
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A related party is a person or entity that has direct or indirect control or joint control, or has significant
influence over the financial and managerial decision-making of the Group; a person or entity that are
under common control or under the same significant influence as the Group; or the Group has direct or
indirect control or joint control or has significant influence over the financial and managerial decision-
making of a person or entity.

Segment reporting

Segment results that are reported to the chairman of the executive committee (the chief operating
decision maker) include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated
on a reasonable basis.

Business combination by entire business transfer

C.P. Retail Holding Company Limited (“CPRH”) and C.P. Retail Development Company Limited
(“CPRD” or “Lotus’s Group™”) were incorporated in Thailand for the purpose of investing in retail
business in Thailand and Malaysia.

CPRH’s major shareholders are CP ALL Public Company Limited (the “Company”), Charoen Pokphand
Holdings Company Limited (“CPH”) and C.P. Merchandising Company Limited (“CPM”), which holds
40%, 40% and 20% of CPRH’s ordinary shares, respectively. CPRH holds 99.99% of CPRD’s ordinary
shares.

At the Company’s Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on 12 October 2021, the
Company’s shareholders approved a local subsidiary (Siam Makro Public Company Limited) to
accept the transfer of the entire business (“EBT Transaction™) of CPRH to reinforce the business and
support the Group’s long-term strategies to become the leader in the retail and wholesale businesses
and to expand the coverage of their business operations to be at a regional level, pursuant to which the
subsidiary will accept the EBT Transaction of CPRH, including all assets, debts, rights, obligations
and liabilities of CPRH existing at present and in the future as at the entire business transfer date.

The EBT Transaction of CPRH was completed on 25 October 2021 (“the acquisition date™). As part of
the EBT Transaction, all assets and liabilities of CPRH were transferred to the subsidiary. CPRH’s
main assets and liabilities included cash and cash equivalents, accrued expenses and 99.99% of
CPRD’s ordinary shares. CPRD holds (a) 99.99% of Lotus’s Stores (Thailand) Co., Ltd.’s ordinary share
which holds 99.99% of Ek-Chai Distribution System Co., Ltd.’s ordinary share, an operator of a retail
business under the name Lotus’s in Thailand; and (b) 100.00% of Lotuss Stores (Malaysia) Sdn.
Bhd.’s ordinary share which operates a retail business under the name Lotus’s in Malaysia. The
business of Lotus’s Group is divided into two main groups which are the retail business and the
business of leasing space in shopping malls. Lotus’s Group is a leading operator in the retail business
of groceries and consumer products with multi-store formats comprising hypermarkets, supermarkets
and mini-supermarkets, and operates the business of leasing space in shopping malls in Thailand and
Malaysia.

Under the EBT Transaction, the subisdiary issued and allocated 5,010,323,500 new ordinary shares
with a par value of Baht 0.50 per share at the offering price of Baht 43.50 per share, totaling Baht
217,949,072,250 as the consideration of the EBT Transaction from CPRH as payment in kind through
the private placement offering.
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Upon the completion of the EBT Transaction, CPRH proceeded with dissolution and completed
liquidation within the same fiscal year in order to be in accordance with the rules, procedures and
conditions stipulated under the Revenue Department for the purpose of tax exemption for such
transaction, as well as, allocated the issued ordinary shares of the subsidiary to the existing
shareholders of CPRH i.e. (a) the Company, (b) CPH and (c) CPM, in proportion to their respective
shareholding. CPRH allocated the issued ordinary shares of the subsidiary to the Company in the
amount of 2,004,129,400 shares, totaling Baht 85,635 million, reducing the subsidiary’s ownership
interest from 93.08% to 65.97% whilst retaining control over the subsidiary as a result of the issuance and
allocation of new ordinary shares of the subsidiary. The Group recognised an increase in non-controlling
interests of Baht 135,066 million and surplus from changes in ownership interest in subsidiary of Baht
3,219 million.

As the EBT Transaction of CPRH in which the Company holds 40% part, the subsidiary accounts for
business restructuring and acquisition of interests under common control. As a result, they have been
accounted for using a method similar to pooling of interests method, to reflect the economic substances
of the subsidiary in the Group which were under common control throughout the related period for the
benefit of comparison, although the legal form of the relationship of the subsidiary and the CPRH was
effective subsequently.

As the EBT Transaction of CPRH for the remaining 60% part, the subsidiary accounts for business
combination achieved in stages (“step acquisition™) pursuant to the provisions of Thai Financing
Reporting Standards No. 3, Business Combinations, which requires, among other things, that the previously
held equity interests in CPRH be remeasured to fair value at the date of business combination with
any resulting gain or loss recognised in profit or loss and identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a business combination be recognised at their fair values as of the acquisition date.

The gain recognised as a result of remeasuring to fair value of the previously held equity interests is
determined as follows:

Consolidated
financial
statements
(in million Baht)

Fair value of previously held equity interests 92,190

Carrying amount of previously held equity interests 85,476
Gain recognised as a result of remeasuring to fair value of the

previously held equity interests 6,714

The Group engaged independent valuers to appraise the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, and allocation of fair value at the date of business combination. At the report date,
the independent valuers are still in the process of appraising the fair value of those; and the fair value
appraisal has not yet been completed.

For the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has
provisionally estimated the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed from
the business combination by considering information in the latest draft appraisal report obtained from
the independent valuers and recorded the difference between the consideration transferred and values
of the assets and liabilities in the account “Goodwill” amounting to Baht 232,545 million.
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The principal factors that contributed to goodwill are that Lotus’s Group is one of the leading player in
retail market that is trusted by customers for their daily purchase with nationwide store network
providing them with convenience regardless of their location with ability to operate retail business,
experienced human resources in retail business, ability to generate revenue from various store formats
and from store space management and innovation, ability to further expand business to neighbouring
countries, capability of management, staff and technology that will help to accelerate overseas
expansion as well as business sustainability. The overall components of Lotus’s Group will contribute
to the Group’s capability to fulfill its Mission “To become the number 1 B2B and B2C retailer in Asia,
combining both online and offline, by fulfilling our customers’ daily needs with technology,
innovation and operational excellence; together with people and partners in a sustainable way”.
Goodwill from the business combination will not qualify for any tax deduction.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Fair values

(in million Baht)
CPRH :
Cash and cash equivalents 4
Other payables 2)
CPRD
Cash and cash equivalents 13,161
Current investments 5,975
Trade accounts receivable 1,284
Other current receivables 2,979
Inventories 14,478
Derivatives assets 583
Investment in associate 9,174
Investments in joint ventures 4,774
Investment properties 51,017
Property, plant and equipment 77,943
Right-of-use assets 26,028
Intangible assets other than goodwill 5,221
Deferred tax assets 2,157
Other non-current assets 1,054
Short-term borrowings from financial institutions (28,220)
Trade accounts payable (22,479)
Other payables (13,427)
Current portion of lease liabilities (1,907)
Income tax payable (496)
Derivatives liabilities (809)
Long-term borrowings from financial institutions (100,093)
Lease liabilities (36,982)
Provisions for employee benefits (1,487)
Other non-current provisions (2,166)
Rental deposits from tenants (2,620)
Deferred tax liabilities (6,447)
Other non-current liabilities (767)
Total identifiable net assets received 2,070)
Goodwill 232,545
Consideration transferred 230,475
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The Group is continuing its review of these matters during the measurement period. If new information
obtained within one year from the date of business combination about facts and circumstances that existed
at the date of business combination identifies adjustments to the above provisional fair values, or any
additional assets or liabilities that existed at the date of business combination, then the business
combination accounting will be revised.

Business combination-related costs

The Group had business combination-related costs, totaling Baht 197 million, which were recorded in
the administrative expenses account in the consolidated statement of income for the year ended
31 December 2021.

Operations of new subsidiaries after business combination

In the preparation of the consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Group included the operation results of new subsidiaries for the period from 25 October 2021 to
31 December 2021. Significant details are as follows:

For the period from
25 October 2021
to 31 December 2021

(in million Baht)
Total revenues 40,197
Profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the Company 238

If the business combination had occurred on 1 January 2021, management estimates that consolidated total
revenues of the Group would have increased by Baht 166,390 million and consolidated profit attributable
to equity holders would have increased by Baht 691 million. In determining these amounts, management
has assumed that the fair value adjustments, including finance costs related transactions, determined
provisionally, that arose on the date of business combination would have been the same if the business
combination had occurred on 1 January 2021.

5  Related parties

Relationships with associate, joint ventures and subsidiaries are described in notes 10 and 11 to the
financial statements. Relationships with key management and other related parties that the Group had
significant transactions with during the year were as follows:

Country of
incorporation/
Name of parties nationality Nature of relationships
Charoen Pokphand Group Company Thailand Shareholder of the Company, Company under
Limited (“CPG”) CPG Group and 2 common directors
C.P. Merchandising Co., Ltd. Thailand Shareholder of the Company, Company under
CPG Group, 1 common director and one
of family member of the Company’s director
is a major shareholder
Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Thailand Company under CPG Group and 4 common directors

Company Limited
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Name of parties

Leadership Development Charoen
Pokphand Group Co., Ltd.

CP Land Public Company Limited

SM True Co., Ltd.

C.P. Consumer Products Co., Ltd.

CP-Meiji Co., Ltd.

CPF (Thailand) Public Company
Limited

CPF IT Center Co., Ltd.

Perfect Companion Group Co., Ltd.

Pokphand Enterprise Co., Ltd.

True Move H Universal
Communication Co., Ltd.

Wire & Wireless Co., Ltd.

Ascend Food Company Limited

EGG Digital Co., Ltd.

True Leasing Co., Ltd.

True Money Co., Ltd.

C.P. Cambodia Co., Ltd.

C.P. Facility Management Company
Limited

C.P. Packaging Industry Co., Ltd.

C.P. Tower Growth Leasehold
Property Fund

C.P. Vietnam Corporation

Charoen Pokphand Foods Canada Inc.

Chonburi Transportation Company
Limited

CP B&F (Thailand) Company
Limited

CP Sales & Service Company Limited

Country of
incorporation/

nationality
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand
Thailand

Thailand

Thailand

Thailand

Thailand

Thailand

Cambodia
Thailand

Thailand
Thailand

Vietnam
Canada

Thailand
Thailand

Thailand
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Nature of relationships
Company under CPG Group and 2 common directors

Company under CPG Group and 2 common directors
Company under CPG Group and 2 common directors
Company under CPG Group and 1 common director
Company under CPG Group and 1 common director
Company under CPG Group and 1 common director

Company under CPG Group and 1 common director
Company under CPG Group and 1 common director
Company under CPG Group and 1 common director
Company under CPG Group and 1 common director

Company under CPG Group and four of family
member of the Company’s director are major
shareholders

Company under CPG Group and three of family
member of the Company’s director are major
shareholders

Company under CPG Group and three of family
member of the Company’s director are major
shareholders

Company under CPG Group and three of family
member of the Company’s director are major
shareholders

Company under CPG Group and three of family
member of the Company’s director are major
shareholders

Company under CPG Group

Company under CPG Group

Company under CPG Group
Company under CPG Group

Company under CPG Group
Company under CPG Group
Company under CPG Group
Company under CPG Group

Company under CPG Group



CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Country of
incorporation/
Name of parties nationality Nature of relationships

CPF Food and Beverage Company Thailand Company under CPG Group

Limited
CPF Restaurant and Food Chain Thailand Company under CPG Group

Company Limited
CPF Trading Co., Ltd. Thailand Company under CPG Group
International Pet Food Co., Ltd. Thailand Company under CPG Group
Pk Agro-industrial Product Malaysia Company under CPG Group

(MALAYSIA) Sdn. Bhd.
True Digital Group Co., Ltd. Thailand Company under CPG Group
True Distribution and Sales Co., Ltd.  Thailand Company under CPG Group
True E-Logistics Company Limited Thailand Company under CPG Group
True GS Co., Ltd. Thailand Company under CPG Group
True Internet Corporation Co., Ltd. Thailand Company under CPG Group
True United Football Club Co., Ltd. Thailand Company under CPG Group
C.P. Food Store Co., Ltd. Thailand Chearavanont family is major shareholders
Dynamic Transport Company Limited Thailand Chearavanont family is major shareholders
Dees Supreme Co., Ltd. Thailand Chearavanont family is major shareholders
Chef Cares Project Co., Ltd. Thailand One of family member of Chearavanont

family is major shareholders
Key management personnel Thai/ Persons having authority and responsibility for
Foreigners planning, directing and controlling the activities

of the Group, directly or indirectly, including
any director of the Group (whether executive
or otherwise)

The pricing policies for particular types of transactions with related parties are explained further below:

Transactions
Sale of goods

Interest income

Purchase of goods and
services

Rental and service fees

Finance costs

Purchase of property, plant
and equipment and intangible
assets other than goodwill

Pricing policies

Prices determined by the terms and conditions used in the normal
course of business comparable to those for non-related companies

Source of fund costs plus capital management expenses

Prices determined by the terms and conditions used in the normal
course of business comparable to those for non-related companies

Rates advised by the lessors and service providers

Agreed rates stipulated in the agreements

Prices determined by the terms and conditions used in the normal
course of business comparable to those for non-related companies
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Consolidated Separate
Significant transactions with related parties financial statements financial statements
Jor the year ended 31 December 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Subsidiaries

Revenue from sale of goods and

42

rendering of services - - 5,053 1,603
Interest income - - 237 275
Dividend income - - 7,064 6,768
Other income - - 2,115 1,666
Distribution costs - - 1,649 1,742
Administrative expenses - - 4918 3,037
Finance costs - - 21 26
Purchases of goods and services - - 25,417 26,098
Purchases of property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets other than goodwill - - 2,785 3,764

Associate
Revenue from sale of goods and

rendering of services 104 - - -
Dividend income 81 - - -
Other income 1 - - -
Distribution costs 116 - - -
Administrative expenses 2 - 1 -
Finance costs 32 - - -
Purchases of goods and services 38 - - -

Joint ventures
Revenue from sale of goods and

rendering of services 10 - - -
Other income 9 - - -
Distribution costs 24 - - -
Administrative expenses 1 - - -
Purchases of goods and services 1 - - -

Other related companies
Revenue from sale of goods and

rendering of services 2,557 1,804 416 430
Gain from sale of investment in subsidiary 1,317 - 1,440 -
Other income 1,160 1,703 1,104 1,668
Distribution costs 360 193 - -
Administrative expenses 1,460 1,151 1,151 845
Finance costs 8 8 - -
Purchases of goods and services 51,601 66,034 29,826 46,990
Purchases of property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets other than goodwill 173 23 139 -
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Consolidated Separate
Significant transactions with related parties financial statements financial statements
Jor the year ended 31 December (Continued) 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Key management personnel
Key management benefit expenses

Short-term employee benefits 759 729 494 486

Severance pay for employees 10 11 2 3
Total key management benefit expenses 769 740 496 489
Balances as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 with related parties were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)

Trade accounts receivable
Associate 12 - - -
Joint ventures 2 - - -
Other related companies 631 237 - -
Total 645 237 - -
Less allowance for expected credit loss - - - -
Net 645 237 - -
Expected credit losses for the year - - - -
Other current receivables
Subsidiaries - - 2,295 1,312
Associate 26 - - -
Joint ventures 21 - - -
Other related companies 2,278 478 2,154 369
Total 2,325 478 4,449 1,681
Less allowance for expected credit loss - - - -
Net 2,325 478 4,449 1,681

Expected credit losses for the year - - -
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Short-term loans to subsidiaries

Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Separate
financial statements
2021 2020
(in million Baht)

At 1 January 5,500 6,117
Increases 3,800 233
Decreases (1,770) (850)
Unrealised gain on exchange 125 -
Total 7,655 5,500
Less allowance for expected credit loss - -
At 31 December 7,655 5,500
Interest rate at 31 December (% per annum) 1.50 - 3.00 4.75

Expected credit losses for the year - -

As at 31 December 2021 the outstanding balance of short-term loans to the subsidiaries was unsecured

and at call.
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Investments in related companies
True GS Co., Ltd. 199 34 199 34
ALL Now Management Co., Ltd. 494 - 260 -
EGG Digital Co., Ltd. 128 - 67 -
Total 821 34 526 34
Other non-current assets
Subsidiaries - - 3 207
Other related companies 2 10 - -
Total 2 10 3 207
Trade accounts payable ’
Subsidiaries - - 2,505 2,628
Joint ventures 20 - - -
Other related companies 9,491 6,406 3,524 3,545
Total 9,511 6,406 6,029 6,173
Other payables
Subsidiaries - - 7,131 8,066
Other related companies 775 247 134 36
Total 775 247 7,265 8,102
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Short-term borrowings from subsidiary

Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Separate
financial statements
2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January - 700
Increases 1,400 300
Decreases - (1,000)
At 31 December 1,400 -
Interest rate at 31 December (% per annum) 3.00 4.50
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Bahi)
Lease liabilities
Associate 6,758 - - -
Joint ventures 21 - - -
Other related companies 581 271 - -
Total 7,360 271 - -
Rental deposits from tenants
Other related companies 7 7 - -
Total 7 7 - -

Significant agreements with related parties

As at 31 December 2021 the Group had the following significant agreements with related parties:

(a)

(®)

©

The Company has a service agreement with Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited,
a shareholder of the Company, covering technical advisory, management, technical assistances
and right to use the trademark and services of the shareholder for a period of 1 year ending in
December 2022. In consideration thereof, the Company agreed to pay a monthly service fee to the
shareholder totaling Baht 1.58 million.

The Company has a cash management agreement with Counter Service Co., Ltd., a local
subsidiary. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to provide cash management
services under conditions stipulated in the agreement to the subsidiary. In consideration thereof,
the subsidiary agreed to pay a cash management service fee to the Company at the rates stipulated
in the agreement, and the Company agreed to pay benefits for cash management to the subsidiary at
the rate stipulated in the agreement. If either party has intention to terminate the agreement, a written
notification must be made to the other party at least 60 days before the expiry date of the agreement.

The Company has service agreements with Counter Service Co., Ltd., a local subsidiary. Under
the terms of the agreements, the Company agreed to provide and install the computer system to
support bill payment services. In consideration thereof, the subsidiary agreed to pay monthly
service fees to the Company in accordance with the types of service stipulated in the agreements.
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(e)

®

(2

()

®

0

The Company has a service agreement with Counter Service Co., Ltd., a local subsidiary. Under
the terms of the agreement, the Company agreed to be appointed as the agent of the subsidiary
for bill payment services under conditions stipulated in the agreement. In consideration thereof,
the subsidiary agreed to pay a service fee to the Company at the amount stipulated in the
agreement. If either party has intention to terminate the agreement, a written notification must be
made to the other party at least 60 days before the expiry date of the agreement.

The Company has a maintenance service agreement with CP Retailink Co., Ltd., a local subsidiary.
Under the terms of the agreement, the subsidiary agreed to provide maintenance of computer
hardware and equipment services to the Company for a period of 5 years ending in December
2022. In consideration thereof, the Company agreed to pay an annual service fee to the subsidiary at
the amount stipulated in the agreement.

The Company and certain local subsidiaries have lease and service agreements with C.P. Tower
Growth Leasehold Property Fund, a related company, to lease space in its buildings for offices of
the Company and the subsidiaries. In consideration thereof, the Company and the subsidiaries
agreed to pay monthly rental and services fees totaling Baht 10.7 million, and placed guarantee
deposits with the related company totaling Baht 44.5 million. The guarantee deposits will be
refunded to the Company and the subsidiaries upon the termination of the lease. These agreements
are effective for a period of 3 years, and will expire on various dates until March 2024.

The Company and certain local subsidiaries have information system services agreements with
Gosoft (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (“the service provider”), a local subsidiary. Under the terms of these
agreements, the service provider agreed to provide consulting, advisory, development, design,
installation, maintenance and supporting services to the Company and its subsidiaries for a period
of 1 year ending in December 2022. In consideration thereof, the Company and its subsidiaries
agreed to pay service fees to the service provider at the amounts stipulated in the agreements. If
either party has intention to terminate the agreement, a written notification must be made to the
other party at least 90 days before the expiry date of the agreement.

The Company has a service agreement with Thai Smart Card Co., Ltd., a local subsidiary. Under
the terms of the agreement, the subsidiary agreed to manage customer loyalty programme. In
consideration thereof, the Company agreed to pay monthly service fees to the subsidiary totaling
Baht 0.3 million. If either party has intention to terminate the agreement, a written notification must
be made to the other party at least 30 days before the expiry date of the agreement.

The Company has a service agreement with Counter Service Co., Ltd., a local subsidiary. Under the
terms of the agreement, the subsidiary agreed to manage points for customer loyalty programme. In
consideration thereof, the Company agreed to pay a monthly service fee to the subsidiary of Baht 0.3
million. The agreement is for a period of 3 years and are renewable for additional periods of 3 years.
If either party has no intention to renew the agreement, a written notification must be made to the
other party at lease 60 days before the expiry date of the agreement.

The Company has service agreements with Siam Makro Public Company Limited, a local subsidiary,
as well as, Makro (Cambodia) Company Limited, ARO Commercial Company Limited, Guangzhou
Huadu Makro Food Supermarket Company Limited and Makro (Guangzhou) Food Company
Limited, foreign subsidiaries. Under the terms of these agreements, the Company agreed to grant the
right to use certain trademarks under conditions stipulated in the agreements. In consideration
thereof, the subsidiaries are committed to pay a fee, calculated as a percentage of their sales, to the
Company as stipulated in the agreements. These agreements are effective for periods of 1 year to
5 years, and will expire on various dates until December 2026.
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(m)

A local subsidiary (Siam Makro Public Company Limited) has lease and service agreements with
CP Retailink Co., Ltd., a local subsidiary (“the party”). Under the terms of these agreements, the
subsidiary agreed to provide space for trading and related services to the party. In consideration
thereof, the party agreed to pay monthly rental and services fees, and placed guarantee deposits with
the subsidiary as stipulated in the agreement. The guarantee deposits will be refunded to the party
upon the termination of the lease. These agreements are effective for a period of 1 year and 3 years,
and will expire on various dates until January 2025.

A local subsidiary (Siam Makro Public Company Limited) entered into commitments as guarantor
under new facilities agreement of, a local subsidiary, C.P. Retail Development Company Limited
due to the refinancing transaction with financial institutions covering the borrowing amounting to
Baht 9,500 million and United States Dollars 570 million.

A local indirect subsidiary (EK-Chai Distribution System Co., Ltd.) and a foreign indirect subsidiary
(Lotuss Stores (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.) have service agreements with Charoen Pokphand Group
Company Limited, a shareholder of the company (“the party”). Under the terms of these agreements,
the subsidiaries obtain the right to use of trademark and services under conditions stipulated in the
agreements. In consideration thereof, the subsidiaries are committed to pay to the party fees
calculated as a percentage of their sales as stipulated in the agreements. These agreements are
effective for a period of 2 years and will expire in December 2023.

6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
14,891 10,782 9,282 9,093

Cash at financial institutions
- current accounts 8,330 6,275 3,713 4971
Cash at financial institutions

- savings accounts 68,712 23,093 6,462 7,514
Highly liquid short-term investments 415 439 - -
Total 92,348 40,589 19,457 21,578

7 Current investments
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Cash at financial institutions

- time deposits 3,977 37 - -
Debt instruments for trading 809 - - -
Total 4,786 37 - -
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Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)

At 1 January 37 659 -
Increases 809 110 -
Acquisition through

business combination 4 5,975 - -
Decreases (2,036) (731) -
Exchange differences on

translating financial statements 1 (D) -
At 31 December 4,786 37 -

8 Trade accounts receivable and other current receivables

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Trade accounts receivable Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Bahi)

Related parties
Within credit terms 467 199 -
Overdue:

Less than 3 months 148 28 -

3 - 6 months 16 3 -

6 - 12 months 5 4 -

Over 12 months 9 3 -
Total 645 237 -
Less allowance for expected

credit loss - - -

Net 5 645 237 -
Other parties
Within credit terms 1,801 1,091 162 252
Overdue:

Less than 3 months 828 299 -

3 - 6 months 160 35 -

6 - 12 months 97 39 -

Over 12 months 208 38 -
Total 3,094 1,502 162 252
Less allowance for expected

credit loss (398) (89) -

Net 2,696 1,413 162 252
Grand total 3,341 1,650 162 252
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Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Other current receivables Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Bahi)
Related parties
Within credit terms 2,021 168 4,190 1,486
Overdue:
Less than 3 months 275 278 184 175
3 - 6 months 17 15 63 20
6 - 12 months 11 3 11 -
Over 12 months 1 14 1 -
Total 2,325 478 4,449 1,681
Less allowance for expected
credit loss - - - -
Net 5 2,325 478 4,449 1,681
Other parties
Within credit terms 10,332 5,840 3,523 2,766
Overdue:
Less than 3 months 928 850 800 816
3 - 6 months 105 5 9 2
6 - 12 months 64 12 3 7
Over 12 months 81 29 18 10
Total 11,510 6,736 4,353 3,601
Less allowance for expected
credit loss (90) (36) (19) (18)
Net 11,420 6,700 4,334 3,583
Grand Total 13,745 7,178 8,783 5,264
Consolidated Separate
Allowance for expected financial statements financial statements
credit loss 2021 2020 2021 2020
At 1 January 125 79 18 15
Addition 36 64 2 6
Acquisition through
business combination 355 - - -
Reversal 67 ®) - -
Write-off (16) (12) ) 3)
Exchange differences on
translating financial
statements 55 (D) - -
At 31 December 488 125 19 18

Information of credit risk is disclosed in note 34(b.1) to the financial statements.
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9

Inventories
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Finished goods 51,623 31,242 16,536 15,327
Work in progress 130 93 - -
Raw materials 667 614 - -
Goods in transit 641 335 - -
Total 53,061 32,284 16,536 15,327
Less allowance for losses on
decline in value of inventories (2,526) (535) (220) (220)
Net 50,535 31,749 16,316 15,107

The cost of inventories which is recognised as an expense and presented as part of the account
“Cost of sale of goods and rendering of services” consisted of:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Cost of inventories 436,257 407,282 210,765 216,923
Allowance for losses on decline in
value of inventories 1,991 113 - 54
Total 438,248 407,395 210,765 216,977

The cost of inventories which is recognised as an expense and presented as part of the account
“Distribution costs” in the statements of income for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to Baht
2,341 million (2020: Baht 2,662 million) in the consolidated financial statements, and Baht 2,331
million (2020: Baht 2,644 million) in the separate financial statements.
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10 Investments in associate and joint ventures

Movements of investment in associate during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as

follows:
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January 85,552 - 85,635 -
Decrease (85,476) - (85,635) -
Acquisition through
business combination 4 9,174 - - -
Increase - 80,936 - 80,936
Change in ownership interest
in associate (66) - - -
Transferred in from
cash flow hedges reserve - 4,699 - 4,699

Less Share of loss of

investment accounted

for using equity method (328) (64) - -
Add (Less) Share of other

comprehensive income

of investment accounted

for using equity method 364 (19) - -
Less Dividend income (81) - - -
At 31 December 9,139 85,552 - 85,635
Movement of investments in joint ventures during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were
as follows:
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January : - - - -
Acquisition through
business combination 4 4,774 - - -
Add Share of profit of
investment accounted
for using equity method 102 - - -
At 31 December 4,876 - - -
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Detail of changes in investments in associate and joint ventures during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 were as follow:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)

Decrease and increase
Associate
- C.P. Retail Holding

Company Limited (85,476) 80,936 (85,635) 80,936
Total (85,476) 80,936 (85,635) 80,936
Acquisition through

business combination
Associate
- Lotus’s Retail Growth

Freehold and Leasehold

Property Fund 9,174 - - -
Total 9,174 - - -
Joint ventures
- Lotus’s Money Services

Limited 3,949 - - -
- Synergistic Property

Development Co., Ltd. 319 - - -
- Retail Properties Co., Ltd. 506 - - -
Total 4,774 - - -

Increase and decrease in investment during the year

During the first quarter of 2020, the Company invested in C.P. Retail Holding Company Limited
(“CPRH”) which is a special purpose vehicle incorporated in Thailand on 6 March 2020 for the purpose
of investing in retail business. CPRH had an authorised share capital of Baht 199,480 million and
owned 99.99% in C.P. Retail Development Company Limited’s (the “buyer”) share capital. This
investment is to acquire shares or economic interests of up to 40% of the total issued shares in
(1) Tesco Stores (Thailand) Company Limited (Subsequently known as “Lotus’s Stores (Thailand) Co., Ltd.”)
holding 99.99% of shares in Ek-Chai Distribution System Co., Ltd. which operates retail business
under Lotus’s brand in Thailand and (2) Tesco Stores (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. (Subsequently
known as “Lotuss Stores (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.”) which operates retail business under Lotus’s brand
in Malaysia (together referred to as the “Lotus’s Group”). Lotus’s Group was an indirect associate of
the Group. The buyer entered into a sale and purchase agreement dated 9 March 2020 with Tesco Holding
Limited and Tesco Holdings B.V.. The Lotus’s Group indirect investment transaction was completed on
18 December 2020. The purchase price allocation is a judgemental exercise to determine the fair value of
identifiable assets acquires and liabilities assumed and consideration transferred with any resulting
differences recognised as goodwill.

During 2020, the Company’s investment in CPRH was Baht 79,792 million, paid in cash equally to 40% in
paid-up share capital, and the investment transaction was completed within the same fiscal year. The company
also recognised related transaction costs and fair value of forward contracts at the date of acquisition of
totaling Baht 1,144 million and transferred in from cash flow hedges reserve of Baht 4,699 million
as part of investment in associate. The company’s investment in CPRH was totally of Baht 85,635 million
as at 31 December 2020.
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During the first quarter of 2021, the buyer acquired preferred shares from non-controlling interests totaling
739,997 shares of Baht 172 million in cash, increasing the buyer’s shareholding ratio in Lotus’s Stores
(Thailand) Co., Ltd. to 99.99% of total issued and paid-up shares. The buyer recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interests of Baht 7 million and deficit from change in ownership interest in subsidiary of Baht
165 million. The Group then recognised deficit from change in ownership interest in associate of Baht 66
million.

During the third quarter of 2021, the group completed purchase price allocation in October 2021,
resulting in the according of goodwill of Baht 80,372 million which was recorded as a part of investment
in associate accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated statement of financial position.
However, on 25 October 2021, a local subsidiary (Siam Makro Public Company Limited) completed the
transfer of the entire business (“EBT Transaction™) of CPRH and CPRH proceeded with dissolution
and completed liquidation within the same fiscal year, resulting in no investment in associate as at 31
December 2021. The details of EBT Transaction and other related transactions are disclosed in note 4 to
the financial statements.
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The Group has considered that none of associate and joint ventures is regarded as individually material
to the Group
Immaterial associate and joint ventures

The following table summarises the financial information of the Group’s interests in immaterial associate
and joint ventures based on the amounts reported in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Immaterial
Immaterial associate joint ventures
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Carrying amount of interests in
immaterial associate and
joint ventures 9,139 85,552 4,876 -
Group’s share of:
- (Loss) profit from continuing operations (328) (64) 102 -
- Other comprehensive income 364 19 - -
- Total comprehensive income 36 (83) 102 -
11 Investments in subsidiaries
Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January - - 201,010 199,527
Increases - - 86,818 1,483
Decreases - - (6,471) -
At 31 December - - 281,357 201,010

Details of the net increases and decreases in investments in subsidiaries during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)

Siam Makro Public Company Limited - - 80,164 -
Albuera International Limited - - 185 125
ALL Now Management Co., Ltd. - - ) -
All Corporation Limited - - - 200
ALL Wellness Co., Ltd. - - - 175
Lotus Distribution Investment Limited - - - 983
Total - - 80,347 1,483
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Siam Makro Public Company Limited
Change in interest in a subsidiary without a change of control

According to the entire business transfer transaction on 25 October 2021 as disclosed in note 4 to the
financial statements, a local subsidiary (Siam Makro Public Company Limited) issued and allocated
new ordinary shares to the Company. The carrying amount of previously held equity interests was
Baht 85,635 million, reducing its direct and indirect ownership interest from 93.08% to 65.97% whilst
retaining control over the subsidiary. The group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests of
Baht 135,066 million and surplus from changes in ownership interest in subsidiary of Baht 3,219 million.

On 22 December 2021, the Company had partial disposal 1.34% of total issued and paid-up ordinary
shares of the subsidiary at the price of Baht 43.50 per share, totaling Baht 5,742 million in cash, reducing
its direct and indirect ownership interest from 65.97% to 64.63% whilst retaining control over the
subsidiary. The group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests of Baht 5,904 million and
deficit from changes in ownership interest in subsidiary of Baht 412 million, net of disposal cost of
Baht 217 million and income tax expense of Baht 32 million. The Company had the gain on sale of
investment in the separate financial statements of totaling Baht 271 million.

On 24 December 2021, the subsidiary increased its authorised share capital of 770 million shares with
a par value of Baht 0.50 each at the offering price of Baht 43.50 per share, totaling Baht 33,495 million
for public offering. The registration of the increased authorised share capital with the Ministry of
Commerce and the additional paid-up share capital were completed in December 2021, reducing its direct
and indirect ownership interest from 64.63% to 59.92% whilst retaining control over the subsidiary. The
group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests of Baht 34,062 million and deficit from change
in ownership interest in subsidiary of Baht 1,056 million.

Albuera International Limited
Additional investment

During the first quarter of 2021, a foreign subsidiary (Albuera International Limited) collected from the
called for additional paid-up share capital of United States Dollars 6 million; from United States Dollar 4
million to United States Dollars 10 million.

During the first quarter of 2020, a foreign subsidiary (Albuera International Limited) collected from the
called for additional paid-up share capital of United States Dollars 3.99 million; from United States Dollar
1 to United States Dollars 4 million.

ALL Now Management Co., Ltd. (“ANM”)
Loss in control over a subsidiary

During the fourth quarter of 2021, ANM increased its authorised share capital and collected from the
called for additional paid-up share capital of Baht 998 million; from Baht 2 million to Baht 1,000 million
and the Company had partial disposal 90% of total issued and paid-up shares of ANM of 90 million shares
at the price of Baht 26 per share, totaling Baht 2,340 million to related companies; Chonburi Transportation
Company Limited (52%), CPF Trading Co., Ltd. (19%), Telecom Holding Co., Ltd. (10%), and
Ek-Chai Distribution System Co., Ltd. (9%), as a result, ANM changed its status from a subsidiary
to a related company of the Company. The Group lost control over ANM, which remained 10% of total
issued and paid-up share capital as “investment in related company” measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
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The carrying amount of equity interest in ANM in the Group’s consolidated financial statements and in
the separate financial statements on the date of transaction was Baht 1,023 million and Baht 900 million,
respectively. In this regard, the fair value of the Group’s retained interest in ANM was Baht 2,340 million
based on the independent appraisal report. The Group recognised a gain on loss of control in a subsidiary
from derecognition the assets and liabilities of totaling Baht 1,317 million and gain from sale of investment
in subsidiary in the separate financial statements of totaling Baht 1,440 million.

All Corporation Limited

Additional investment

During the third quarter of 2020, a local subsidiary (All Corporation Limited) increased its authorised
share capital and collected from the called for additional paid-up share capital of Baht 200 million; from
Baht 50 million to Baht 250 million.

Disposal of investment

During the third quarter of 2021, a local direct subsidiary (All Corporation Limited) disposed 99.99%
of total issued and painetd-up ordinary shares of a local indirect subsidiary (ALL NOW LOGISTICS
CO., LTD.) for 99,997 shares at the price of Baht 261 per share, totaling Baht 26.10 million to a local
direct subsidiary (ALL Now Management Co., Ltd.).

ALL Wellness Co., Ltd.

Additional investment

During the third quarter of 2020, a local subsidiary (ALL Wellness Co., Ltd.) increased its authorised
share capital of Baht 350 million; from Baht 1 million to Baht 351 million, and collected from the called
for additional paid-up share capital of Baht 175 million; from Baht 1 million to Baht 176 million.

Lotus Distribution Investment Limited

Additional investment

During the second quarter of 2020, a foreign subsidiary (Lotus Distribution Investment Limited) collected

from the called for additional paid-up share capital of United States Dollars 30 million; from United States
Dollars 280 million to United States Dollars 310 million.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Details of the Company’s indirect subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Type of Country of
Name of parties business operation Ownership interests
2021 2020
(%)
Local indirect subsidiaries
- Investment through ALL Now Management Co., Ltd.
ALL NOW LOGISTICS CO.,LTD.  Parcel and express  Thailand - 99.99

delivery services

- Investment through All Corporation Limited
CP Foodlab Co., Ltd. Research and Thailand 99.99 99.99
development
service, and
microbiologic
and scientific
laboratory
services
ALL GUARDIAN CO., LTD. Health and beauty =~ Thailand 64.99 64.99
products retailer

- Investment through Suksapiwat Co., Ltd.

Panyapiwat Institute of Educational Thailand 99.99 99.99
Management institution
Panyapiwat Institute of Educational Thailand 99.99 99.99
Management Demonstration institution
School _
Panyapiwat Technological College Educational Thailand 99.99 99.99
institution

- Investment through Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Makro ROH Co., Ltd. Providing Thailand 59.91 93.07
technical and
supporting
services to
the Group

ProMart Co., Ltd. Trading of Thailand 59.91 93.07
non-food
products
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Name of parties

Local indirect subsidiaries (continued)

Type of
business

Country of
operation

- Investment through Siam Makro Public Company Limited (continued)

Siam Food Services Limited

C.P. Retail Development Company
Limited
Lotus’s Stores (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Ek-Chai Distribution System
Co., Ltd.

Lotus’s Mobile (Thailand) Co., Ltd.

- Investment through OHT Co., Ltd.

Siam Makro Holding (Thailand)
Limited

Siam Makro Public Company
Limited

Foreign indirect subsidiaries

Importing and
trading of food
products from
international
and domestic
sources and
Providing
freight, delivery
rental and
storage services

Retail business
and mall rental

Retail business

Retail business
and related
business

Telecommunication
business

Holding
company

Cash and
carry

- Investment through Albuera International Limited

CP ALL (CAMBODIA)

CO., LTD.
CP ALL LAOS COMPANY

LIMITED

- Investment through Lotus Distribution Investment Limited

Nanjing Tech University
Pujiang Institute

Nanjing Tech University
Pujiang Institute Educational
Development Fund

Nanjing Tianqu Investment
Management Co., Ltd.

Convenience

stores
Convenience

stores

Educational
institution

Educational
development
fund

Commercial
trading,
holding of
educational
institution
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Thailand

Thailand
Thailand

Thailand

Thailand

Thailand

Thailand

Cambodia

Laos

The People’s Republic
of China

The People’s Republic
of China

The People’s Republic
of China

Ownership interests

2021
(%)

5991

59.91
59.90
59.90

59.89

50.99

24.95

100.00

99.99

100.00

100.00

100.00

2020

93.07

50.99

55.01

100.00

99.99

100.00

100.00

100.00



CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Type of Country of
Name of parties business operation

Foreign indirect subsidiaries (continued)
- Investment through Lotus Distribution Investment Limited (continued)

Nanjing Zheng Yi Xin Trading Commercial The People’s Republic
Co., Ltd. trading of China
Successor (China) Investments Holding The People’s Republic
Limited company of China
Successor Investments Limited Holding Hong Kong Special
company Administrative
Region of the
People’s Republic
of China

- Investment through All Corporation Limited

ALL CONVENIENCE LOGISTIC Logistics and Cambodia
CO., LTD. distribution of
merchandises
services

- Investment through Siam Makro Public Company Limited

Indoguna Vina Food Service Trading and Vietnam
Company Limited distribution, and
import and
export food
products
ARO Commercial Company Wholesale and Republic of the Union
Limited retail operator of Myanmar
and related
business
ARO Company Limited Providing Republic of the Union
marketing and of Myanmar
consulting
services
Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Importing and Cambodia
Limited* trading of food
related products
CP Wholesale India Private Limited =~ Wholesale and India
related business
Makro (Guangzhou) Food Wholesale and The People’s Republic
Company Limited retail operator of China

and related
business
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Ownership interests

2021

100.00

160.00

100.00

99.99

59.92

59.91

59.91

59.91

59.90

59.90

2020
(%)

100.00
100.00

100.00

99.99

93.08

93.07



CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Name of parties

Type of
business

Foreign indirect subsidiaries (continued)
- Investment through Siam Makro Public Company Limited (continued)

Guangzhou Huadu Makro Food
Supermarket Company Limited

Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd

Indoguna Dubai L.L.C**

Indoguna Lordly Company Limited

Just Meat Company Limited

MAXZI THE GOOD FOOD
RESTAURANT & CAFE L.L.C**

Makro (Cambodia) Company
Limited

Lotuss Stores (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Wholesale and
retail operator
and related
business

Manufacturing,
trading,
importing and
exporting of
food related
products

Importing and
trading of food
related products

Manufacturing,
trading,
importing and
exporting of
food related
products

Importing and
trading of food
related products

Restaurant and
minimart

Wholesale and
retail operator
and related
business

Retail business
and related
business

Country of
operation

The People’s Republic

of China

Singapore

United Arab Emirates

Hong Kong Special
Administrative
Region of the
People’s Republic
of China

Hong Kong Special
Administrative
Region of the
People’s Republic
of China

United Arab Emirates

Cambodia

Malaysia

2021

59.90

47.93

47.93

47.93

47.93

47.93

41.94

59.91

Ownership interests
2020

93.06

74.46

74.46

74.46

74.46

74.46

65.15

* On 8 May 2020, at the Board of Directors’ meeting of a local subsidiary (Siam Makro Public Company Limited)

approved a local indirect subsidiary (Siam Food Services Limited (“SFS”)), a subsidiary of 99.99% of total issued and
paid-up shares owned by Siam Makro Public Company Limited, to additional invest in a foreign subsidiary
(Indoguna (Cambodia) Company Limited (“INDC”)) through purchasing 60,000 shares from non-controlling interests,

bringing SES’s total investment in INDC’s paid-up share capital to 100% and the Company’s total investment in
INDC’s paid-up share capital to 93.07%. The purchase of shares was completed in July 2020. The Group recognised an
increase in non-controlling interests of Baht 0.99 million and deficit from changes in ownership interest in subsidiary of
Baht 19.98 million. SFS paid for the purchase of shares, totaling Baht 12.66 million in cash.

** The Group interest is 47.93% after taking account of nominee holdings. (2020: 74.46%)
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

12 Non-controlling interests

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has a
material non-controlling interest:

31 December 2021
Siam Makro
Public ALL
Company GUARDIAN
Limited CO.,, LTD. Total
(in million Baht)
Non-controlling interests percentages 40.08 35.01
Current assets 110,000 254
Non-current assets 459,490 17
Current liabilities (118,211 (67)
Non-current liabilities (162,781) (1)
Net assets 288,498 203
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests 188,602* 71 188,673
Revenue 273,149 163
Profit (loss) 13,673 7
Other comprehensive income 145 -
Total comprehensive income (loss) 13,818 7
Loss allocated to non-controlling interests (899)* (G4 (933)
Other comprehensive income allocated to
non-controlling interests 67* - 67
Cash flows from operating activities 16,774 (184)
Cash flows from investing activities 10,991 (16)
Cash flows from financing activities 26,787 -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (332) -
Exchange differences on translating
financial statements (149) -
Net increase (decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents 54,071 (200)
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

31 December 2020
Siam Makro
Public ALL
Company GUARDIAN
Limited CO.,LTD. Total
(in million Baht)
Non-controlling interests percentages 6.92 35.01
Current assets 28,251 412
Non-current assets 45,783 -
Current liabilities (40,447) (112)
Non-current liabilities (10,877) -
Net assets 22,710 300
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests 14,731%* 105 14,836
Revenue 218,760 86
Profit 6,524 1
Other comprehensive income 30
Total comprehensive income ' 6,554 1
Profit allocated to non-controlling interests 400%* - 400
Other comprehensive income allocated to
non-controlling interests 1* - 1
Cash flows from operating activities 13,353 (48)
Cash flows from investing activities (2,288) -
Cash flows from financing activities (5,094) 300
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (319) -
Exchange differences on translating
financial statements 31 -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 5,683 252

* The carrying amount of non-controlling interests included non-controlling interests of indirect subsidiaries.
These indirect subsidiaries are not wholly-owned by the intermediate subsidiary.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

13 Investment properties

Consolidated financial statements
Right-of-use

Note Land Buildings assets Total
(in million Baht)

Cost
At 1 January 2020 348 - - 348
At 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 348 - - 348
Additions 10 56 - 66
Acquisition through business

combination 4 16,812 25,955 8,250 51,017
Reclassification (1,535) (3,937) - (5,472)
Disposals and write-off - (23) N 24)
Lease modification - - 330 330
Exchange differences on

translating financial statements (14) (11D &) (29)
At 31 December 2021 15,621 22,040 8,575 46,236
Accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2020 (15) - - (15)
At 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 (15) - - as)
Depreciation charge for the year ) (654) (88) (749)
Reversal of impairment losses - 1 - 1
Disposals and write-off - 18 1 19
Exchange differences on

translating financial statements (D) 2) - 3)
At 31 December 2021 (23) (637) 87 (747)
Net book value
At 1 January 2020 333 - - 333
At 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 333 - - 333
At 31 December 2021 15,598 21,403 8,488 45,489

The gross amount of the Group’s fully depreciated investment properties that were still in use as at

31 December 2021 amounted to Baht 1,184 million in the consolidated financial statements.

68



69

L86T67 91S°ZI 807°S 16692 £€0°79 86611 TH0°L9

L9S L1 €9 9¢ €6 (961) (sn)
(109°%) (Ly1) ) (906°1) (118D (ogL) -

wY'S - - - - LE6'E SES°T

- 021°T (9L8°11) 091 96. 0v8°6 -

EV6°LL S8l L8S‘1 €20°¢1 - LS6°0¥ 16122

881°0T €62 679°6 65ty 855y 8€1‘1 111

SIHT61 8PO°1T1 SHH'8 6111 LEV'SS 75009 61TcP
(z0) STZL (z2) (£0Z°6) 66L°6 (1zen) -

0vH 61 €I€01 S9¥‘S T 0T 8€9°8P €LET9 61T'h

€56 € 6€€ 91 01 S8l -
(127°¢) (gz1) (on) (Los‘1) z1n) (15%) -

- 056 (129°L) 81T 861°1 SS6Y -

€LTSI 9.7 SY9°L 091°C L9V LLY 8t

SES6LI L1T°6 8118 SES61 L8S‘EY LOZ9S IL1°EY

(1ypg uoijjnu uy)
%101, PYQ0 uorje[[eRISul uewdinbs juowdinba syuawsAoId L pue]
vgm oo@@o @Qm ﬁz.m Jjosse Dms.moéﬁ_mﬁ
ﬁoﬁosbmcoo m@ua\x@ \CQGEOdE @:w mwﬁoz\_o\wo.ﬁmam
uoﬁﬁs ma@mm/\ d.:Ec.S H wE@:SD
‘sgurpying

S)UIUII)L]S [BIDUBUL] PIJEPI[OSUO))

1207 PqURRJ 1€V
sjuswIo)e)s [eroueuly Sune[suen
UO S90UAIYIP 9FurYOXH
sjesodsiq
UOIBOIJISSB[O9Y
slojsuel],
¥ UoTjRUIqUIOD
ssauisng y3noay} uonisiboy
Suonippy
1707 Arenuer 1)y
g€ 4 UOIIBOIJISSB[0dY
pariodaa Asnorasad se -
0707 WRqURR( €IV
sjuswaje)s [erouruly Sune[suern
UO S9OUAISJIP 9Furyoxq
sresodsi(q
SIQJSuBL],

SuonIppy
0207 Arenuef | 3y
150)H)

10N

judwdinbo pue juepd ‘Apdoag  p1

1Z0T 13qUIddA( [€ PIPUD 183K oY) J0 4
S)UA WA} E)S [BIOURULJ 3Y) 0) SIJON

soLIeIpIsqng sy pue parury Auedwo) atqnd TIV dJ



0L

((ZIAT) (600°L) - (68%°L) (9s0°zy) (006°c?) 1207 1Pqudd( €1V

9T (L) - (€2) (sv) %43 SjuSWSIe)S [eIouRUl Jule[Sue)
U0 SeOUaIRJIp 98ueyoxy
L0t 971 - T6L°1 vL9°1 Siy sjesodsiq
(08) - - 01 (1) (68) jou ‘sasso[ Juounredw]
(98¢ (1£0°1) - (1€ (166°9) (6¥0°¢) 1834 Y} 10} 98ed UonEIdaIde(
(avzzL) (L60‘9) - (€56°9) (£69°LE) (86¥°10) 1202 Aqenuer 11y
- 6T - 096°S (szt'9) 9¢t 8€ xUONBOIISSE[ONY

(rvezL) (9z1‘9) - (€16°71) (897°1€) ¥re6‘10) pajtodaux Lsnoissad se -
0207 1PqUIN( [€ IV

(1¢e) - - (<) (€) (€2 sjuowWoye)s [eroueuly Juijeisues)
U0 SQ0USIOJJIp a3ueyoxy
966°C LO1 - 9941 6L0°1 y0¢ s[esodsi(
- - - 1 4 (© 19U ‘sosso] Jueureduw]
(z68°01) (1€6) - (685°T) (969°%) (9L9°7) ek oy 10y 98.reyo uoneroaido(
(rLTv9) (zog's) - (98L°11) (059°L2) (9€s°61) 020C Arenuer | 1y

$ass0] Juawavdul papniunoon
pun uonn1da4dap pawnunoIdy

(yog uoifjiut uy)
[e10], ALl iTg) uone[reIsur juowdinba wowdinba sjuswaAcsdwr pue] 2ION
pue 991]JO pue pue Josse asn-Jo-1yFu
uononysuod SaINIXI1J A1uIyoen pue spuswsAoIdul
Jopun §)ossy ‘arnyuan,g Suipping
‘s3uipping

(Panuyuoy)) sHUdWI}E}S [BIOUBUL POIEPIOSUO))

1707 12qUuIddd( € PIPUD 18IL Y 10|
S)UIWIIE)S [RIOUBULJ OY) 0] SIJON

saLeIpIsqng )1 pue pyrury Auedwo) aqng 1TV 4D



1L

‘ssautsnq s, dnoany ayy o1 app1adoaddp a.40ut s1 UODIYISSP]O MaU a1y} ‘JuawaSpuput fo uordo ayl ul ‘aSNVIq IPVLUL UGG dADY SUOLIDIYISSD]I24 2SIY [,

"UOIINJIISUI [BIOUBULJ WO STUIMOLIO]G WLID)-FUO]

Jopun paspard atom (uotjiw ¢ Jyvg :0Z(Z) UOIIIW 95/ 4] Iyeg JO on[eA j0oq 19u [2101 ynm juswdinba pue juerd Auedoid s dnoin oy ‘170 19quIL0s( [ ¢ 18 SV

Ananoag
£€S 1T LOS'S 80+'8 T05°61 LL6 6T 860°16 1v0°L9 1207 13qUII( [€ 1V
LLT'0TT 1S6'Y EVP'S 997y PPL0T pSS'8€ 61T'EY 1207 Adenuep 11V
661°0T1 LOT'Y S9+°8 60S°L OLE'LT 6£h°6€ 61T'cy pajodax snorasad se -

00T _qURR( [£€I1V
19SST1 ST16°€ SI1°8 6bL'L LEG'ST 1L9°9€ ILTeY 070 Avenuer 11y
anjwa yooq JaN
(g uoiyjiu u1)
8101 Ioy10 uolje[[BISUl wawdnbe juowdinbo sjuowioAosdwr pue] 210N
pue 901JJO pue pue 19858 0SN-JO-1Y3LI
UO0IONISU0d SeInIx1J Alouryoely|  pue syuewdAoiduwl
Iopun s)assy ‘amyiuan,g Surpying
‘sguIpying

(panunuoy)) sHUAWIE)S [BIOUBUL PI)EPI[OSUOD)

1207 19quI([ [ PIPUD 184 ) J04
SJUAWIIYE)S [RIIULULJ Y} 0) SIJON]

saueIpisqng syt pue pajruly Auedwo) dnqnd TIV 4D



L

€PSL8 £€9°8 086 109°01 027°0€ LY6°TE 9T
(£90°7) (to1) - (01%) (#60°1) (85¢) -
- 9¢6 (627°%) 0T LOT 991 -
LOT‘6 012 8L0°% $8T°1 897°¢ we 14
66¥°08 88S‘L I€1°7 908°6 6£6°LT L688T 8CI'¥
(z0) (L9) (z2) (L€8°8) 016 - -
17508 191°8 €SI £Y9°8T 67S°8T L688T SETY
(z6£0) (oo1) - (€61°1) (L69) (zo¥) -
- 819 (61¢%) IS LS £96°¢ -
S€6°01 112 TESY 0L9°C gse'e 121 Ly
8L6°TL ov°L 1761 SITLI 718°C1 S19°6T 160t
(yog ol uy)
2101, 0200 uorje[[eISUl owdinba uowdinbs syuswAoIduut pueT
Ucm uoﬁ%o @zm vcw Jasse Omsumo-wswﬁ
UO013oN.1Isu0o SOINIXIJ Aloulyoej\  pue sjueweAosduwl
Jopun s}assy ‘Qamyruin,f Suipping
‘s3urpjing

sjuawId)e}s [wouruly 9jesedag

120T _QURDRQ T¢IV
sresodsi(q

SIoJsuel],

suonIppy

1707 Arenusp 11V

[l 4« UOTJBOIJISSB[OY]
parrodaa Asnoradud se -

020T BRI [€ IV

spesodsi(q

SIoJsuely,

SUOnIppY
070T Arenuef [ 1y
180D

310N

1207 19QUIdA([ T PIPUD J1LIA ) 10
S)UI W) B)S [RIDUBULJ Y} 0) SIJON

saLreIpIsqng s)1 pue payrury Auedwo) arqnd TIV 4D



£L

(19L9%) (695°S) - (€L¥'L) (zoL'0?D) (Lro‘sn
LS81 S8 - LLY LSOT 8¢T
(991°L) (008) - (L8T°T) (67€°¢) (oeLD)
(Zsv'1H) Fs8‘y) - (£99°9) (o1¥‘81) (szsIn
- 0St - 769°S (F¥1°9) -
(ZSt'1¥) (Foc‘s) - (Lsszr) (997°21) (sZs1T1)
S81°C 98 - 961°1 9.9 L9T
(55L°9) (98L) - (z9¢0) (110°0) (965°1)
(788°9¢) ($09°%) - (Tsrrmn (1g6°01) (961°01)
(nypg uoipjtus uy)
[elo0L PyI0 uone|RISUL wowdinbo juswdinba suswaAcduwy pue]
pue 9211JO pue pue josse 9sn-Jo-JyJur
UoI1oNISU0? SaIMXIJ Alouryoejy]  pue syusuwAordul
Jopun s19ssy ‘eimruan,g Suipring
‘sguipping

(ponunuo)) syudwidye)s e ueuly Aeredog

1207 PquUIdRQ 1€V
sresodsiq

Teok o 103 oreyo uoneroarde(g

1707 Atenuep 13y

[ 7o 1+ UOIIBOIJISSR[09Y
pariodaa Asnorsdad se -

070T PQURR( [E€IV

spesodsi(q

180K ot Joj oFaeyo uoneroasdoy

020¢ Arenuef | 1y
sasso] yuawrnvdidl panunIOn

pUv Uonp122.4dap PAIVIMUNIY

2JIO0N

1207 12qUIddA( T€ PIPUD J1BIA 9Y) 10
SJUIUIAYE)S [RIOULULY AY) 03 SIJON

saLeIpIsqNg )1 pue pyrury Auedwo) angqnd TIV 4D



vL

‘ssausng s, Aupduio)) ayj 01 agpiidoddp a40u ST UOHDILJISSP]O Mau ay] ‘WdWaSDUDUL fO UOIMIO BY] U] DSNDIAq PP UEq 2ADY SUOIIDIL/ISSD]ODL SDY [ 4

‘KjoAn0adsal syusuole)s

Jeroueuly oyeredos oyy UL (uoyjiut £6£°91 LG 0ZOZ) UOIW G/ [T Jed PUB SJUSWSL)S [RIOUBUL POJEPI[OSUOD OU) UL (UOjitl $88'Q7 1P 0ZOT) UOHIIW
S61°SS g O pAIUNOWE {77 JoquIsdd( [ € I8 S8 asn Ul [[13s a1om Jey juewidmbe pue jueld pajeroaidep Ang s Aueduwio)) sy pue s, dnoin) oy} Jo Junowe ssoid ay ],

8L0Y $90°€ 086 8TI'E 8156 0£6°61 Iy
L¥0'6€ bEL'T I€1°C 343 67S°6 TLELT 8EL‘p
690°6€ LSST €S1°C 9879 €97°9 TLELT 8ETy
960°s€ 86L°T 1961 v96's £88F 6I¥'ST 160
(g uojpiu uy)
€107, R0 uore[eISsul juewdinbs juewdinba sjuowoAoIduwl pue]
pue 901JJO pue pue 19858 9sn-JO-1y311
UuonINISUOd SQINIX1} Aoumyoey  pue sjudwesoidun
Jopun s}ossy ‘@anyruin,j Suiping
‘s3utping

(ponunuo)H) syudmd)e)s [wrousuly eiredag

20T PquURIR(q 1€ IV

1207 Arenuer 131y
pariodaa Asnoisoud se -

070T PquURR( 1€V

020¢ Axenuep [ 3y
2HIDA Y00q JIN]

310N

1707 19quIddI( J€ PAPUD J8IL 3} J0
SHUIWIIE)S [RIOURULJ Y} 0} SIJON

saLeIpIsqNg sy pue payrwry Auedwo) afqnd TIV 4D



SL

T€0°S6 0v6 1SS 180°C 9IL'TS PrL8E 1707 1dquidda( €1V

70¢€ % - T €01 €61 SJUSWIAIR)S [BIOURUL) FuljB[SuRI)
U0 seoudIojJIp sdueyoxy
8Th 89 - I 65¢ - UONEOJIpOW 98BI ]
(1LLY) (6%) @ (89) (065°¢) (TLo1) sfesodsi(q

820°9C 1443 1LY 971 £90°C1 ¥Z0°El 4 UOBUIqUOD
ssauisng ygnoay) uonsinboy
¥08°01 ISt VT $6S L61°9 LE8°E suonippy
1$7°79 (444 8¢S SIH'T P8SLE 9L TT 1207 Arenuep 13y
L9T - - - 0€ LET 5% UOTTBOLJISSB[00Y

PL6'TY (447 8¢S SIF'T pSSLE STS'TT pajtodaa Afsnotadad se —
0707 19quIadd( €IV

69 - - - 1 89 sjuawiole)s [eroueuly urjejsues)
U0 $90URIRLJIP 93uBYIXH
(1s¥°0) (82) an (1) (1L6T) (Lzw) s[esodsiq
£68°¢l 19T €T 0s Tov'8 SOLY SuonIppYy
£91°05 681 % LT6 TTrle 6L1°81 , 070¢ Arenuer |1y
1507)

(nyog uoyyiu uy)
e10], SO[OTYSA wewdinbs juowdinbe s3urpping puer] 3IoON
921JJO pue pue
SoInJX1y KIouryor
‘@Injruan,g

SPUIUIdIL}S [BIOUBUL PI)BPI[OSUO))

Sjosse qu—...wc..:_—wmm Sl

1207 12qUIN( TE PIPU? 1L oY} J04
SJUIWI}B)S [RIOUBULJ ) 0] SAJON

saLieIpIsqng s)1 pue payiury Auedwo) sHqnd TIV D



9L

(99L°LT) (€17) ¥e) (zee) (659°T1) (8TS‘y) 1207 12quadd( [€ 1V

(LE) (D - (1 @n Ln syuowiejess [ejouruly Funejsuel
U0 Sa0UIRLJIP owcﬂsoxm
(D) - - - (€D - UOHJBOYIPOW 9589
L91°C Ly I 8¢S 8781 €12 sfesodsi
(08) - - - () (9¢) s9ss0[ JuouLIedui]
(19¥°01) (z91) ¥2) (602) (98%°L) (085°0) reak oy} 103 oFreyo uoneroaido(y
(The'6) (96) an (081) (Lv6'9) (801°7) 1207 Arenuep 11y
(L97) - - - (0€) (LED) 4% UOITBOLJISSB[00Y

(sLo‘6) (96) (an (081) (L16°9) (1L8‘D) pajaodaa L[snorsaud se —
0707 1oquIddd( 1€ IV

¢4 - - - I (©) SjuUaWIaIE]s [elouBuly Junejsues)
U0 SOOUSIYJIP 23UuRIOX5]
L9T ST 01 I L61 143 sjesodsi(]
(ove‘6) (11 (12) (161) (s11°L) (zo6'1) sJeoh oy 1oy a81eyo uopedaIdeq
- - - - - - 020¢ Arenuef | 3y
uonw12.4dap paInIMUnIIY

(1yog uoijjiu ul)
[e10L SOIOIYOA juowdinbe juowdinbg sgurpping pue| 310N
901JJO pue pue
SoInIX1J Asouigoriy
‘armyrin g

(ponuluo))) sHUIMWI)L}S [BIDUBULJ PIYEPI[OSUO)

1207 19qUIddd([ T€ POPUI JLIA I} K0
SJUAUIAIB)S [RIOUBULJ Y} 0} SIION

sareIpIsqg 1 pue papiwr| Auedwo) anqng 1TV 4D



LL

‘ssoutsng s, dno.n ayj o1 appLido.ddp a.40ut s1 UORDOIYISSDIO Mau ay1 WauaIvupUL JO UoIUIdo 21} Ul ‘DSNPO2Qq aPDUL UDDQG 2ADY SUOLIDILISSD]IDA ISIYT 4y

"SJUBUIDIDIS [DIOUDULL dY) Ul UOIJLUL / £ € JYDE O SURUROWD ‘O7(7 12quada(] [ £ papua wad ay) 40f auooul fo Suawainls paippijosuod ayj ul |pIUaL paonpad aljl
01 uoipiodod up Sjassp asn-fo-iySit o wouptosadap pasizasd svy lupduio)y ay] UONLIIS 6[-TIAOD 241 JO Nsad D SO UOISSAIUOD Judd U pajuni3 spm Auvduio)) sy,

99T°LL LTL LIS 6hL1 LSO'0p 91T 1707 1oquiadd( 1€ 3V
668°TS 97¢ Ly SETT LE9'0E ¥S9°0T 1207 Atenugp 11y
668°TS 9t¢ Ly SET'T LEI0E ¥S9°0T pajrodar Ajsnotadad se -
070T 1PqUIR( [€ IV
£9¥°0S 681 9% LT6 (444 £ 6L1‘8T 0707 Arenuer |1y
angva yooq JaN
(iyog uoijjiu uy)
el0, SO[OIYD A juowdinba juowdinboe sgurpping pue] 210N
901JJO puB pue
SOINIX1J AIoulyoeq
‘anyruan,g

(panuyuoyH) syudUId)L)S [RIDUBUL PIIBPI[OSUO))

1707 13qUII( T€ PIPU 1BIL 9} 10
SHUIWIIL)S [RIDURULJ I} 0} SAJON

saleIpIsqng sy pue payrury Auedwo) d1qnd 1TV dD



CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Separate financial statements

Machinery
and
Land Building equipment Total
(in million Baht)

Cost
At 1 January 2020 10,481 28,188 - 38,669
Additions 4,400 8,224 - 12,624
Disposals (428) (1,932) - (2,360)
At 31 December 2020

- as previously reported 14,453 34,480 - 48,933
Reclassification** 237 30 - 267
At 1 January 2021 14,690 34,510 - 49,200
Additions 3,133 5,584 157 8,874
Disposals (1,062) (3,205) - (4,267)
At 31 December 2021 16,761 36,889 157 53,807
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2020 - - - -
Depreciation charge for the year* (1,528) (6,617) - (8,145)
Disposals 34 189 - 223
At 31 December 2020

- as previously reported (1,494) (6,428) - (7,922)
Reclassification** (237) (30) - (267)
At 1 January 2021 (1,731) (6,458) - (8,189)
Depreciation charge for the year (1,930) (6,748) 3 (8,681)
Disposals 205 1,585 - 1,790
At 31 December 2021 (3,456) (11,621) 3 (15,080)
Net book value
At 1 January 2020 10,481 28,188 - 38,669
At 31 December 2020

- as previously reported 12,959 28,052 - 41,011
At 1 January 2021 12,959 28,052 - 41,011
At 31 December 2021 13,305 25,268 154 38,727

*The Company was granted a rent concession as a result of the COVID-19 situation. The Company has reversed
depreciation of right-of-use assets in proportion to the reduced rental in the separate statements of income for
the year ended 31 December 2020, amounting to Baht 337 million in the financial statements

** These reclassifications have been made because, in the opinion of management, the new classification is more
appropriate to the Company’s business.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

16 Goodwill

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 31 December
Cost 128,096 128,096 - -
Acquisition through business
combination 4 232,545 - - -
Less impairment loss - - - -
Net book value 360,641 128,096 - -

Most of the Goodwill arose from (1) Siam Makro Public Company Limited completed the entire
business transfer transaction of C.P. Retail Holding Company Limited (“CPRH™), (2) the Company’s
purchase of shares of Siam Makro Public Company Limited both directly and indirectly, and (3) Siam
Makro Public Company Limited’s purchase of shares at 80% shareholding each of 4 companies, namely
Indoguna (Singapore) Pte Ltd, Indoguna Dubai L.L.C, Just Meat Company Limited and Indoguna
Lordly Company Limited (together referred to as “Indoguna Group of companies”).

Cash-generating units (“CGUs ") containing goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the Group’s CGUs as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
C.P. Retail Development Company Limited
and its subsidiaries (“Lotus’s Group”)* 232,545 - - -
Siam Makro Public Company Limited 125,936 125,936 - -
Indoguna Group of companies 2,023 2,023 - -
Other 137 137 - -
Total 360,641 128,096 - -

*The Group is currently assessing the allocation of Lotus’s Group’s goodwill because it is still during the measurement period.

Impairment testing for carrying amount of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite
useful life

The recoverable amount was measured on its value in use, determined by discounting future cash flows
to be generated from the going concern of (1) Lotus’s Group (2) Siam Makro Public Company
Limited and (3) Indoguna Group of companies.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

The values assigned to the key assumptions represented management’s assessment of future trends in
the relevant industries and were based on historical data from external and internal sources. The key
assumptions used in the estimation of the recoverable amount were as follows:

Discount rate

The discount rate was based on weighted average cost of capital, with average industry cost of debt,
risk free rate of 10-year government bond, market risk premium and average industry beta.

Terminal value growth rate

Terminal value growth rate was determined based on average gross domestic product (“GDP”)
growth rate, inflation rates and growth rates of historical earnings before interest, income tax,
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”) of (1) Lotus’s Group (2) Siam Makro Public Company
Limited and (3) Indoguna Group of companies.

Budgeted EBITDA growth rate

Budgeted EBITDA growth rate was based on expectations of future outcomes taking into the past
experience, adjusted for the anticipated revenue growth. Revenue growth was projected from past
experience and estimate number of new stores, sale growth of new stores and sale growth of same stores
of Siam Makro Public Company Limited and Lotus’s Group including sale and mall rental growth of
new stores and growth of existing stores of Lotus’s Group. Indoguna Group of companies would
develop and maintain their customer satisfaction by rendering high quality products, new product
development, and maintenance customer relationship.

Management has identified that a reasonably possible change in three key assumptions, discount rate,
terminal value growth rate and budgeted revenue growth rate, which in 2021 if discount rate increases
by 2.5% and 2.0% (2020: 0.4% and 3.0%) or terminal value growth rate decreases by 5.3% and 3.0%
(2020: 0.7% and 6.0%) or budgeted revenue growth rate decreases by 5.8% and 5.0% (2020: 1.2%
and 6.0%) could cause the recoverable amount of Siam Makro Public Company Limited and
Indoguna Group of companies, respectively to be equal to the carrying amount.

Based on the impairment testing, the recoverable amount of CGU was estimated to be higher than
its carrying amount and no impairment was required to these financial statements.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

17 Intangible assets other than goodwill

Consolidated financial statements

Computer
software
in use and
under Intellectual
Note development  property Other Total
(in million Baht)

Cost
At 1 January 2020 7,022 46,521 2,101 55,644
Additions 974 - 35 1,009
Transfers 2) - 2 -
Disposals M - - )
Exchange differences on

translating financial statements 7 - 61 68
At 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 8,000 46,521 2,199 56,720
Additions 2,286 - 1 2,287
Acquisition through business

combination 4 4,143 - 1,078 5,221
Transfers 3} - 2 -
Disposals (295) - - (295)
Exchange differences on

translating financial statements 28 - 134 162
At 31 December 2021 14,160 46,521 3,414 64,095
Accumulated amortisation and

accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2020 (3,185) - (1,075) (4,260)
Amortisation charge for the year (666) - (88) (754)
Disposals (D - - )]
Exchange differences on

translating financial statements 1 - : - 1
At 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 (3,851) - (1,163) (5,014)
Amortisation charge for the year (863) - 28) (891)
Impairment losses, net 8 (7,167)* - (7,159)
Disposals 87 - - 87
Exchange differences on

translating financial statements 3) - - 3)
At 31 December 2021 (4,622) (7,167) (1,191 (12,980)
Net book value
At 1 January 2020 3,837 46,521 1,026 51,384
At 31 December 2020 and

1 January 2021 4,149 46,521 1,036 51,706
At 31 December 2021 9,538 39,354 2,223 51,115
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

* Impairment testing for intellectual property

The recoverable amount of intellectual property was based on its value in use, measured by discounting the
Sfuture cash flows to be generated from the continuing operations. The key assumptions used in the estimation
of the recoverable amount were discount rate, terminal value growth rate, and budgeted revenue growth rate.
Discount rate was based on weighted average cost of capital. Terminal value growth rate was determined
based on average gross domestic product growth rate. Budgeted revenue growth rate was based on
expectations of future outcomes taking into the past experience. The carrying amount of the intellectual
property was determined to be higher than its recoverable amount. The Group recorded impairment for loss
on intangible assets other than goodwill of Baht 7,167 million during 2021.

Separate
Financial statements
Computer software
in use and under

development

(in million Baht)
Cost
At 1 January 2020 3,350
Additions 574
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 3,924
Additions 843
Disposals (178)
At 31 December 2021 4,589
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2020 (1,661)
Amortisation charge for the year (289)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 (1,950)
Amortisation charge for the year (329)
Disposals 1
At 31 December 2021 (2,278)
Net book value
At 1 January 2020 1,689
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 1,974
At 31 December 2021 2,311

The gross amount of the Group’s and the Company’s fully amortised intangible assets other than
goodwill that were still in use as at 31 December 2021 amounted to Baht 4,319 million (2020: Baht
2,204 million) in the consolidated financial statements and Baht 1,055 million (2020: Baht 1,505 million)
in the separate financial statements, respectively.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

18 Interest-bearing liabilities

Short-term borrowings
from financial
institutions

Bills of exchange

Liabilities under
trust receipts

Short-term borrowings

Short-term borrowings
from other parties

Debentures

Long-term borrowings
from financial
institutions

Lease liabilities

Total interest-bearing
liabilities

Short-term borrowings
from financial
institutions

Short-term borrowings
from subsidiary

Debentures

Long-term borrowings
from financial
institutions

Lease liabilities

Total interest-bearing
liabilities

Unutilised credit facilities

Consolidated financial statements

2021 2020
Secured  Unsecured Total Secured Unsecured Total
(in million Baht)

- - - - 480 480

- 915 915 - 526 526
28,283 13,493 41,776 - 45 45
- - - - 6 6
40,857 181,492 222,349 57,966 95,030 152,996
19,679 89,018 108,697 1,712 86,620 88,332
- 88,540 88,540 - 50,583 50,583
88,819 373,458 462,277 59,678 233,290 292,968

Separate financial statements
2021 2020
Note Secured Unsecured Total Secured Unsecured Total
(in million Baht)

- 13,493 13,493 - - -

5 - 1,400 1,400 - - -
40,857 181,492 222,349 57,966 95,030 152,996
- - - - 79,620 79,620

- 40,118 40,118 - 42,018 42,018
40,857 236,503 277,360 57,966 216,668 274,634

As at 31 December 2021 the Group had unutilized credit facilities totaling Baht 27,576 million,
Indian Rupee 205 million, United States Dollar 154 million, Malaysian Ringgit 131 million,
Singapore Dollar 13 million and United Arab Emirates Dirham 5 million (2020: Baht 16,982 million,
Indian Rupee 173 million, United States Dollar 4 million and Singapore Dollar 12 million).
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Short-term borrowings from financial institutions

Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)

At 1 January 1,050 3,327 - 2,500
Increases (decreases) 13,272 (2,279) 13,428 (2,500)
Acquisition through business

combination 4 28,220 - - -
Interest paid calculated using

effective interest rate method 117 - 65 -
Unrealised loss on exchange 12 - - -
Exchange differences on

translating financial statements 20 2 - -
At 31 December 42,691 1,050 13,493 -

Short-term borrowings from other parties

Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January 6 14 - -
Decreases 6) 9 - -
Exchange differences on
translating financial statements - 1 - -
At 31 December - 6 - -
Debentures

Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January 152,996 132,793 152,996 132,793
Increases, net of bond issuance cost 87,823 32,468 87,823 32,468
Decreases (18,502) (12,290) (18,502) (12,290)
Interest paid calculated using
effective interest rate method 32 25 32 25
At 31 December 222,349 152,996 222,349 152,996
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

All series of debentures were registered with the Thai Bond Market Association and the Stock Exchange of
Thailand on the issued date and all series of debentures have a credit rating of “A-(tha)” latest updated by
Fitch Ratings (Thailand) Limited on 23 September 2021.

The Company must comply with the specific covenants such as to maintain net debt to equity ratio in
the annual consolidated financial statements through the terms of debentures, and to pledge Siam Makro
Public Company Limited shares, etc.

Siam Makro Public Company Limited shares as at 31 December 2021, which were pledged in accordance
with the conditions stipulated in the bond issuance, totaled 1,048 million shares. The fair value of those
shares totaled Baht 44,003 million.

Long-term borrowings from financial institutions

Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January 88,332 8,838 79,620 -
Increases 5,000 79,244 - 79,244
Acquisition through business
combination 4 100,093 - - -
Decreases (89,187) (256) (83,819) -
Interest paid calculated using
effective interest rate method 1,736 101 1,668 101
Unrealised loss on exchange - 275 - 275
Realised loss on exchange 2,531 - 2,531 -
Exchange differences on
translating financial statements 192 130 - -
At 31 December 108,697 88,332 - 79,620

At 31 December 2021 the Group had unsecured long-term borrowings agreements with some local
branch of foreign financial institutions and local financial institutions, and had a secured long-term
borrowings agreement with a foreign financial institution. Details are as follows:

Approved
Borrowing credit Interest rate
agreement facilities (% per annum) Term of payment

The first agreement

The second agreement

The third agreement

Baht 1,000 million

Baht 1,000 million

Baht 2,000 million

Fixed interest rate
as stipulated in
the agreement

Fixed interest rate
as stipulated in
the agreement

Fixed interest rate
as stipulated in
the agreement

Entire principal
of borrowing in
November 2022

Entire principal
of borrowing in
December 2022

Entire principal
of borrowing in
November 2024
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Approved
Borrowing credit Interest rate
agreement facilities (% per annum) Term of payment
The fourth agreement Baht 1,000 million Fixed interest rate Entire principal
as stipulated in of borrowing in
the agreement January 2025
The fifth agreement Baht 2,000 million Fixed interest rate Entire principal
as stipulated in of borrowing in
the agreement January 2026
The sixth agreement United States Dollars Variable interest rate Entire principal
2,500 million as stipulated in of borrowing in
(or equivalent to the agreement October 2024
approximately
Baht 83,550 million)
The seventh agreemen Malaysia Ringgit Variable interest rate Installment until
2,300 million as stipulated in October 2026
(or equivalent to the agreement
approximately

The eighth agreement

Baht 18,433 million)

China Renminbi

Floating interest rate

Semi-annually

450 million as stipulated in installment due to
(or equivalent to the agreement May 2026
approximately

Baht 2,393

million)

The ninth agreement United States Dollars Floating interest rate Entire principal
3,200 million as stipulated in of borrowing in
(or equivalent to the agreement June 2022
approximately
Baht 107,497
million)

In this regard, certain foreign subsidiaries issued the letters of guarantee for the eighth long-term

borrowing agreement.

The Group must comply with the specified covenants in each long-term borrowings agreements, such as
to maintain debt to equity ratio, total debts to total assets ratio and the shareholdings of the Company in a

local subsidiary as stipulated in the agreements, etc.
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Lease liabilities

Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January 50,583 47,568 42,018 39,199
Purchase of assets under
lease liabilities 9,463 12,914 8,034 11,837
Acquisition through business
combination 4 38,889 - - -
Payment of lease liabilities (9,854) (8,526) (7,745) (7,317)
Write-off (2,738) (2,348) (3,170) (2,284)
Finance costs under lease 1,622 1,272 981 886
Lease modification 721 - - -
Net impact from a granted
rent concession - (303)* - (303)*
Exchange differences on
translating financial statements (146) 6 - -
At 31 December 88,540 50,583 40,118 42,018

* The Company was granted a rent concession as a result of the COVID-19 situation. The Company has deducted
lease liabilities and reversed financial costs under lease in proportion to the reduced rental in the consolidated and
separate financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020, amounting to Baht 349 million and Baht 46
million, respectively.

Trade accounts payable

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Related parties 5 9,511 6,406 6,029 6,173
Other parties 97,352 66,372 32,672 30,320
Total 106,863 72,778 38,701 36,493

89



CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

20  Other payables

21

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)

Related parties 5 775 247 7,265 8,102
Other parties
Other payables 14,642 3,611 1,374 1,410
Accrued personnel expenses 3,039 1,905 688 444
Accrued royalties and

other accrued expenses 5,774 2,880 1,137 1,220
Deferred royalties and

other deferred income 2,107 2,236 1,136 1,326
Accrued interest expenses 2,279 1,648 1,638 1,589
Accrued utilities expenses 1,381 861 636 631
Accrued advertising and sale

promotion expenses 286 289 67 149
Accrued rental fees 227 176 224 169
Other 1,293 947 431 481

31,028 14,553 7,331 7,419

Total 31,803 14,800 14,596 15,521

Provisions for employee benefits

Defined benefit plans

The Group operates defined benefit plans which have characteristics as follows:
Pension fund benefit

Certain local subsidiaries operate a pension scheme for employees who joined before the 1% of January
2003 and choose to retain the benefits of the original scheme. Employees, upon resignation or retirement
after having completed 3 years of service, shall be entitled to receive cash payment equivalent to
their prevailing salary multiplied by the number of years of service, but not exceeding the equivalent of
10 months of the final salary.

Severance benefit

Under Thai Labour Protection Act B.E 2541 (1998) and the Group’s employment policy, all employees
completing 120 days of service are entitled to severance pay on termination or retrenchment without
cause or upon retirement age of 55 and 60. The severance pay will be at the rate according to number
of years of service as stipulated in the Labor Law which is currently at a maximum rate of 400 days
of the final salary.

Additional benefit related to provident fund

A local subsidiary operates an employee benefit scheme under which employees who are members of
the subsidiary’s provident fund, being a defined contribution plan, for at least 9 years are entitled to
receive additional contribution from the subsidiary on their resignation or retirement from employment
with the subsidiary. Employees, who are a member of the provident fund for at least 9 years, shall be
entitled to receive an additional 50% of the contributions made by the subsidiary on their behalf.
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Other long-term employee benefit plan

A local subsidiary provides to other long-term employee benefit plan, namely long service awards.

The defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as interest rate risk, future salary
growth risk and turnover rate risk.

Consolidated Separate
Present value of the financial statements financial statements
defined benefit obligations Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January 5,085 4,843 2,866 2,772
Included in profit or loss:
Current service costs 394 350 172 176
Past service costs 4 - - -
Interest on obligation 71 69 40 39
469 419 212 215
Included in other
comprehensive income:
Actuarial (gain) loss
- Financial assumptions (440) (342) 271) (266)
- Experience adjustment 164 291 120 205
(276) (51 (151) (61)
Other
Benefits paid by the plan (161) (127) n (60)
Acquisition through business
combination 4 1,487 - - -
Transfer in provisions
for employee benefits from
subsidiaries and related
companies 5 1 4 -
Loss of control over a subsidiary (13) - - -
Exchange differences on '
translating financial statements 48 - - -
At 31 December 6,644 5,085 2,880 2,866
Principal actuarial assumptions
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(%)
Discount rate 13-22 1.30-1.70 2.20 1.60
Retirement age (year) 55 and 60 55 and 60 55 and 60 55 and 60
Future salary growth 3.0-8.0 4.0-5.0 3.5-4.0 4.0-45
Turnover rate 0.0-50.0 1.0-50.0 0.0-12.0 1.0-20.0

Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables.
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At 31 December 2021, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligations were 7 to 15

years (2020: 8 to 15 years).

Sensitivity analysis

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other
assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below.

At 31 December
Discount rate

Future salary growth
Employee turnover

1% increase in assumption

2021

(406)
437
(428)

1% increase in assumption

Consolidated financial statements
1% decrease in assumption

2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
(406) 443 466
429 (387) (380)
(415) 483 442

Separate financial statements
1% decrease in assumption

2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 31 December
Discount rate (225) (240) 241 279
Future salary growth 240 265 (213) (234)
Employee turnover (234) (257) 266 295
22 Other non-current provisions
Consolidated financial statements
2021 2020
Provision for Provision for
Dismantling litigation litigation
Note provision claim Other Total claim
(in million Baht)

At 1 January - 76 - 76 29
Acquisition through

business combination 4 2,101 16 49 2,166 -
Provision made 321 35 16 372 47
Provision used - (36) - (36) -
Provision reverse 3) - - 3) -
At 31 December 2,419 91 65 2,575 76

At 1 January

Dismantling provision made
Dismantling provision used
Dismantling provision reverse
At 31 December

92

Separate financial statements

2021 2020
(in million Baht)
180 -
180 -
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23 Share premium and reserves
Share premium
Section 51 of the Public Limited Company Act B.E. 2535 requires companies to set aside share
subscription monies received in excess of the par value of the shares issued to a reserve account
(“share premium”). Share premium is not available for dividend distribution.
Surplus from changes in ownership interest in subsidiary
Surplus from changes in ownership interest in subsidiary recognised in equity relate to difference
between the amounts by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid.
Appropriations of profit and/or retained earnings
Legal reserve
Section 116 of the Public Limited Company Act B.E. 2535 requires that a public company shall
allocate not less than 5% of its annual net profit, less any accumulated losses brought forward, to a
reserve account (“legal reserve), until this account reaches an amount not less than 10% of the
registered authorised capital. The legal reserve is not available for dividend distribution.

Legal reserve as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was higher than 10% of the registered authorised capital.

Other components of equity

Translation reserve

The translation reserve recognised in equity relate to foreign exchange differences arising from
translation of the financial statements of foreign entities to Thai Baht.

Fair value reserve

The fair value comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity securities designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

Cash flow hedges reserve
The cash flow hedges reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair
value of hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent recognition in profit or loss

or directly included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability.
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24  Perpetual subordinated debentures

Movements during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
At 1 January 19,909 19,909 19,909 19,909
Increase, net of perpetual subordinated
debentures issuance cost 9,955 - 9,955 -
Decrease (9,953) - (9,953) -
At 31 December 19,911 19,909 19911 19,909

On 30 November 2016 and 22 August 2017 the Company issued unsecured, unconvertible and
perpetual subordinated debentures in registered name form (“Debentures”) of Baht 10,000 million
(debentures no. 1/2016) and Baht 10,000 million (debentures no. 1/2017), respectively, which are
payable upon dissolution of the Company or upon the exercise of the Company’s early redemption
right per condition as stipulated in the terms and conditions of debentures. Later, on 30 November
2021, the Company exercised the early redemption right per condition as stipulated in the terms and
conditions of debentures no. 1/2016 of Baht 10,000 million, as well as, on the same day the Company
issued unsecured, unconvertible and perpetual subordinated debentures in registered name form
(“Debentures™) of Baht 10,000 million (debentures no. 1/2021) , which are payable upon dissolution
of the Company or upon the exercise of the Company’s early redemption right per condition as
stipulated in the terms and conditions of debentures. These debentures bear interest which is calculated
based on 5-years government bond yield adjusted with initial credit spread and coupon rate as stipulated
in the terms and conditions of the debentures and is paid on a semi-annual basis. In this regard,
the Company has the sole right to unconditionally defer interest and cumulative interest payments
without time and number limitation based on the Company’s discretion.

If the Company defers interest and cumulative interest payment, the Company shall not perform as follows:
(a) declare or pay any dividend; and
(b) pay any interest or distribute any assets to any holder of Parity Securities or Junior Securities; and

(c) redeem, reduce, cancel, acquire, or buy-back any securities issued by the Company which rank
pari passu or junior to these debentures.

These Debentures of totalling Baht 19,911 million, net of issuance cost of Baht 89 million, were
recognised as a part of equity in the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 (consisted of debentures no. 1/2017 of Baht 9,956 million, net of issuance cost of
Baht 44 million and debentures no. 1/2021 of Baht 9,955 million, net of issuance cost of Baht 45 million).

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has not deferred any interest payments to the perpetual
subordinated debentures holders. Cumulative interest for the year ended 31 December 2021 which the
debentures holders have the right to receive if the interest payment was announced amounting to Baht
1,000 million (2020: Baht 1,003 million). During the year of 2021, the Company paid interest expenses
on perpetual subordinated debentures to the holders of Baht 1,000 million (2020: Baht 1,003 million).
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For debentures no. 1/2017, as at 31 December 2021, the Company classified perpetual subordinated
debentures as a part of equity in the consolidated and separate financial statements. TAS 32 Financial
instruments: Presentation, which became effective for annual financial reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020, explains the classification of perpetual debentures as financial liability. However, the
Federation of Accounting Professions announced the Federation of Accounting Professions Announcement
dated 3 December 2019 regarding additional transition for classification of perpetual debentures as
an additional guideline during transition period, which the Company applied this announcement. If, as at
31 December 2021, the Company classified the perpetual subordinated debentures as financial liability,
total liabilities and equity of the Company will increase and decrease by Baht 9,956 million.

Segment information and disaggregation of revenue
Revenue

The Company’s main operation is derived from sale of goods from convenience stores. The Group’s main
operations are derived from sale of goods from convenience stores, cash and carry, retail and mall rental,
as well as, rendering of services related to these operations.

Segment information

Management determined that the Group has 4 reportable segments which are the Group’s strategic
divisions for different products and services, and are managed separately because they require different
technology and marketing strategies. The following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group’s reportable segments.

Segment 1:  Convenience stores
Segment 2:  Cash and carry
Segment 3:  Retail and mall rental
Segment 4:  Other

Other segments include food service, bill payment services, frozen food plant and bakery, and distributor
of retailing equipment and educational institutions. None of these segments meets the quantitative
thresholds for determining reportable segments.

Each segment’s performance is measured based on segment profit before income tax expense, as
included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision
Maker. Segment profit before income tax expense is used to measure performance as management
believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative
to other entities that operate within these industries. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s
length basis.
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Information about geographical areas

Segment 1, 3 and 4 are managed and have sales offices in Thailand, Malaysia, and other.

In presenting information on the basis of information about geographical areas, segment revenue is
based on the geographical location of customers. Segment assets are based on the geographical

location of assets.

Detail of the geographic segment financial information of the geographical area of the Group as at
31 December and for the year then ended were as follows:

Consolidated financial statements
Non-current assets

Revenue (excluded goodwill)
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Thailand 576,894 536,749 352,049 310,345
Malaysia 6,818 - 36,188 - -
Others 10,599 9,841 17,241 3,487
Total 594,311 546,590 405,478 313,832

Promotional privileges

Certain local subsidiaries have been granted promotional certificates by the Office of the Board of
Investment for the production of ready-to-serve foods or semi ready-to-serve foods, bakery, chill, research
and development for food industry, and food scientific services. The subsidiaries have been granted
several privileges including exemption and/or reduction from payment of income tax on the net profit
derived from promoted operations with certained terms and conditions prescribed in the promotional
certificates.

Revenue from sale of goods and rendering of services under the promoted business of the subsidiaries
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follow:

Consolidated
financial statements
2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Domestic sale of goods and rendering of services 9,518 9,692
Total 9,518 9,692

Contract balances

As at 31 December 2021 the Group had outstanding balances of contract liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements amounting to Baht 816 million (2020: Baht 958 million). The contract liabilities arises
from consideration allocated to customer loyalty programmes. The Group will recognise this revenue when
a customer obtain control of the goods or services, which is expected to occur within 1 year.
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Leases
As a lessee
The Group has enter into a number of various assets categories primarily on respect of land and
building lease agreements. These agreements are effective for period of 1 year to 99 years, which will
expire on various dates until August 2077 with extension options at the end of lease term. The rental
is payable as specified in the contract.
Extension options
The Group has extension options on property lease exercisable up to one year before the end of the
contract period. The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to
exercise the extension options and will regularly reassess so.
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the year ended 31 December Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Sub-lease income 906 7 - -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets: 15
- Land 2,580 1,636 1,930 1,262
- Buildings 7,486 7,044 6,748 6,546
- Machinery and equipment 209 191 3 -
- Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment 24 21 - -

- Vehicles 162 111 - -
Interest on lease liabilities 18 1,622 1,272 981 886
Expenses relating to short-term leases 259 783 48 577
Expenses relating to leases of

low-value assets 195 177 61 52
Variable lease payments based on sales 51 53 36 53

Total cash outflow for leases presented in consolidated and separate statement of cash flows for the
year ended 31 December 2021 were Baht 10,359 million and Baht 7,890 million, respectively (2020:
Baht 9,539 million and Baht 7,999 million, respectively).

As a lessor
The Group has enter into a number of land and spaces in buildings lease agreements which were

classified as operating leases. These lease agreements are effective for period of 1 year to 30 years and
will expire on various dates until May 2048.
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28

Consolidated Separate

Lease payments to be received from financial statements financial statements
operating leases as at 31 December 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
1% year 1,901 71 - -
2™ year 2,840 35 - -
3 year 1,180 11 - -
4% year 241 5 - -
5% year 67 - - -
After 5% year 1,090 - - -
Total 7,319 122 - -
Other income
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Sale promotion income 12,267 12,674 11,515 12,413
Income on royalties and other fees
relating to licenses income 2,272 2,284 2,228 2,269
Other 5,997 5,365 7,063 5,890
Total 20,536 20,323 20,806 20,572
Employee benefit expenses
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Salaries, wages and bonus 38,042 34,405 22,747 21,643
Staff welfares 1,032 952 510 459
Contribution to social security fund 603 683 360 455
Defined benefit plans 21 469 419 212 215
Contribution to provident fund 402 332 164 174
Training expenses 197 144 1,497 1,100
Other 1,096 153 74 68
Total 41,841 37,088 25,564 24,114

The Company and its local subsidiaries have established contributory registered provident funds to
which the Company and subsidiaries each contribute monthly at the rates ranging from 2% to 3%
of the employees’ basic salaries, and employees each contribute monthly at the rates ranging from
2% to 15% of the employees’ basic salaries. The Company’s and the subsidiaries’ contributions to the
provident funds are recorded as expenses in the statement of income as incurred. The provident funds
are registered with the Ministry of Finance as juristic entities and are managed by licensed Fund Managers.
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29

30

Expenses by nature

The statements of income include an analysis of expenses by function. Expenses by nature are as follows:

Note

Changes in inventories of finished

goods and work in progress
Purchase of finished goods
Raw materials and consumables used
Depreciation — investment properties 13
Depreciation — property, plant and

equipment 14
Depreciation — right-of-use assets 15
Amortisation — intangible assets

other than goodwill 17
Impairment for loss on intangible

assets other than goodwill 17
Employee benefit expenses 28
Convenience store management fees
Advertising and sale promotion

expenses
Utilities expenses
Lease-related expenses 26
Other
Total cost of sales of goods and

rendering of services, distribution

costs and impairment for loss on

intangible assets other than

goodwill administrative expenses

Finance costs

Finance costs paid to:
Related party 5

Related parties under leases 5, 26
Financial institutions
Other parties under leases 26

Total

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
(20,725) (315) (1,209) 478)
434,658 384,806 204,374 210,445
10,273 9,340 - -
749 - - -
12,386 10,892 7,166 6,755
10,461 9,003 8,681 7,808
891 754 329 289
7,159 - - -
41,841 37,088 25,564 24,114
18,221 19,196 18,218 19,196
15,239 14,402 13,837 13,371
10,808 9,888 7,543 7,545
505 1,013 145 682
26,398 22,671 16,566 16,388
568,864 518,738 301,214 306,115
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
- - 21 26
8 8 - -
11,021 7,254 10,007 6,910
1,614 1,264 981 886
12,643 8,526 11,009 7,822
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Income tax expense

Income tax recognised in profit or loss

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Current tax
Current year 2,838 2,972 2 407
Over provided in prior years (48) 43) - -
2,790 2,929 2 407
Deferred income tax
Movements in temporary differences (2,265) (170) (821) (112)
(2,265) (170) (821) (112)
Total 525 2,759 (819) 295
Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income
Consolidated financial statements
2021 2020
Tax
Before (income) Net of Before Tax Net of
income tax ~ expense incometax incometax expense income tax
(in million Baht)
Cash flow hedges reserve 66 (13) 53 - - -
Gain on remeasurements
of defined benefit plans (276) 55 (221) 6 9 “42)
Gain on investment
in equity instruments
designated at FVOCI (325) 65 (260) - - -
Total (535) 107 (428) (51) 9 (42)
Separate financial statements
2021 2020
Before Tax Net of Before Tax Net of
income tax ~ expense incometax incometax expense income tax
(in million Baht)
Gain on remeasurements
of defined benefit plans (150) 30 (120) (61) 12 49
Gain on investment
in equity instruments
designated at FVOCI (325) 65 (260) - - -
Total 475) 95 (380) (61) 12 49
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate

Consolidated financial statements

Applicable tax rate (%) 0% 20% Other Total
(in million Baht)
2021
Accounting profit (loss) before income tax
expense 144 13,711 (1,278) 12,577
Income tax at the applicable tax rates - 2,742 - 2,742
Tax effect of income and expenses that are
not taxable income or not deductible in
determining taxable profit - (2,278) 109 (2,169)
Over provided in prior years - 4) (44) (48)
Net - 460 65 525
2020
Accounting profit (loss) before income tax
expense (138) 20,268 (868) 19,262
Income tax at the applicable tax rates - 4,054 - 4,054
Tax effect of income and expenses that are
not taxable income or not deductible in
determining taxable profit - (1,250) ) (1,252)
Over provided in prior years - (42) (1) (43)
Net - 2,762 3 2,759
Separate
financial statements
Applicable tax rate (%) 20% 20%
2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Accounting profit before income tax expense 8,213 14,593
Income tax at the applicable tax rates 1,643 2,919
Tax effect of income and expenses that are not taxable income
or not deductible in determining taxable profit (2,462) (2,624)
Net (819) 295
Deferred income tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Deferred tax assets 2,599 1,787 1,843 1,117
Deferred tax liabilities (17,848) (14,947) - -
Net (15,249) (13,160) 1,843 1,117
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Consolidated financial statements

(Charged)/ credited to
Other
At comprehensive At 31
January Profit or loss income December
(in million Bahi)

2020
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Trade accounts receivable

and other receivables 9 3 - 12
Inventories 152 15 - 167
Investment in associate - (940) - (940)
Property, plant and equipment 64 e - 63
Right-of use assets (7,538) (1,605) - (9,143)
Derivatives liabilities - 940 - 940
Lease liabilities 7,961 1,716 - 9,677
Provisions for employee benefits 858 53 9) 902
Fair value adjustment assets acquired

through business combinations (15,003) 56 - (14,947)
Other 176 (67) - 109
Total (13,321) 170 9 (13,160)

Separate financial statements
(Charged)/ credited to
Other
Atl comprehensive At 31
January Profit or loss income December
(in million Baht)

2021
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Other receivables 3 1 - 4
Inventories 44 - - 44
Investment in associate (940) 940 - -
Investment in related companies - - (65) (65)
Property, plant and equipment 24 - - 24
Right-of use assets (7,935) 8,468 - 533
Derivatives liabilities 940 917 - 23
Lease labilities 8,403 (8,403) - -
Provisions for employee benefits 578 19 30) 567
Loss carry forward - 713 - 713
Total 1,117 821 95 1,843
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2020

Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Other receivables

Inventories

Investment in associate
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of use assets

Derivatives liabilities

Lease liabilities

Provisions for employee benefits
Total

32 Basic earnings per share

Separate financial statements
(Charged)/ credited to

Other
At comprehensive At31
January Profit or loss income December
(in million Baht)

2 1 - 3

33 11 - 44
- (940) - (940)

24 - - 24
(7,434) (501) - (7,935)

- 940 - 940

7,840 563 - 8,403

552 38 (12) 578

1,017 112 (12) 1,117

The calculations of basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 were
based on the profit for the years attributable to equity holders of the Company less cumulative interest
for the years on perpetual subordinated debentures and the number of ordinary shares outstanding

during the years as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht/million shares)

Profit for the year attributable to

equity holders of the Company 12,985 16,102 9,032 14,298
Less: cumulative interest for the year on

perpetual subordinated debentures (1,000) (1,003) (1,000) (1,003)

Profit used in calculation of basic earnings

per share 11,985 15,099 8,032 13,295
Number of ordinary shares outstanding

during the year 8,983 8,983 8,983 8,983
Basic earnings per share (in Baht) 1.33 1.68 0.89 1.48

33 Dividends
The dividends paid by the Company to the shareholders are as follows:
Approval date Payment date Dividend rate Amount
(in Baht/share) (in million Baht)

2021
2020 Annual dividend 23 April 2021 21 May 2021 0.9 8,085
2020
2019 Annual dividend 15 April 2020 14 May 2020 1.25 11,229
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CP ALL Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Financial instruments measured at fair value for level 2

Type Valuation technique
Forward exchange Forward pricing: The fair value is determined using quoted forward exchange rates
contracts at the reporting date and present value calculations based on high credit quality

yield curves in the respective currencies.
Financial instruments measured at fair value for level 3

Inter-relationship

Significant between significant
unobservable unobservable inputs and
Type Valuation technique inputs fair value measurement
Investments in Discounted cash flows Discount rate: The estimated fair value
related companies (2021: 8.71-11.00% would increase

and 2020: 11.28%) (decrease) if the
discount rate was

lower (higher)
Reconciliation of fair value level 3
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Investments in related companies
At 1 January 34 34 34 34
Acquisitions 462 - 167 -
Change in fair value
- recognised in other
comprehensive income 325 - 325 -
At 31 December 5 821 34 526 34

Sensitivity analysis

For the fair values of financial assets measured at fair value Level 3, reasonably possible changes at
the reporting date to one of the significant unobservable inputs, holding other inputs constant, would
have the following effects

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Effect to other comprehensive 1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease
income - net of income tax in assumption in assumption in assumption in assumption
(in million Baht)
At 31 December 2021
Investments in related companies
Discount rate (76) 81 41 53
At 31 December 2020
Investment in related company
Discount rate ®) 7 ) 7
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)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Fair value for trade debentures have been determined based on quoted selling price from the Thai Bond
Market Association at the close of the business on the reporting date.

Fair value for long-term borrowings from financial institutions and accrued guarantee deposits were
calculated by using discounted cash flow method.

Financial risk management policies

Risk management framework

The Group’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group’s risk management framework. The Board of Directors has established the risk management
committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies.
The committee reports regularly to the board of directors on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures,
aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees
understand their roles and obligations.

The Group audit committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk
management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in
relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group audit committee is assisted in its oversight role by
internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit committee.

(b.1) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s
receivables from customers.

(b.1.1) Trade accounts receivable and other current receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer. However, the management also considers the factors
that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk
associated with the industry and country in which customers operate.

The risk management committee has established a credit policy under which each new
customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s trade terms
and conditions are offered. The Group’s review includes external ratings, if they are
available, financial statements, credit agency information, industry information and in
some cases bank references. Sale limits are established for each customer and reviewed
annually. Any sales exceeding those limits require approval from the risk management
committee.
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(6.2)

(b.1.2)

(6.1.3)

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk from trade accounts receivables by
establishing a maximum payment period of 90 days. Outstanding trade receivables are
regularly monitored by the Group. An impairment analysis is performed by the Group
at each reporting date. The provision rates of expected credit loss are based on days
past due for individual trade receivables/groupings of various customer segments with
similar credit risks to reflect differences between economic conditions in the past,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.

Information relevant to credit risk and expected credit loss of trade accounts receivable
and other current receivables are disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalent and derivatives

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and
derivative assets is limited because the counterparties are banks and financial institutions
which the Group considers to have low credit risk.

Guarantees

The Group’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only for subsidiary’s liabilities.

At 31 December 2021, the Group has issued a guarantee to certain banks in respect of
credit facilities granted to a subsidiary (see note 5 to the financial statements).

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting
date. The amounts are gross and undiscounted and include contractual interest payments and exclude
the impact of netting agreements.

Consolidated financial statements
Contractual cash flows
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but

Carrying 1 year less than less than More than
amount or less 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
(in million Baht)
At 31 December 2021
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Short-term borrowings from
financial institutions 42.691 42,698 - - - 42,698
Trade accounts payable 106,863 106,863 - - - 106,863
Other payables 23,018 23,018 - - - 23,018
Debentures 222349 17,324 21,174 80,608 146,260 265,366
Long-term borrowings from
financial institutions 108,697 5,081 87,856 23,788 - 116,725
Lease liabilities 88,540 11,208 9,811 19,008 50,616 90,643
Rental deposits from tenants 2,475 - 11 6 2,458 2,475
594,633 206,192 118,852 123,410 199,334 647,788
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Consolidated financial statements (Continued)
Contractual cash flows
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but

Carrying 1 year less than less than More than
amount or less 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
(in million Baht)
At 31 December 2021
(continued)
Derivative financial
liabilities
Forward exchange contracts 128
Forward exchange contracts
used for hedging: 876
- Cash outflow (51,859) - (6,787) - (58,646)
1,004 (51,859) - (6,787) - (58,646)
At 31 December 2020
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Short-term borrowings from
financial institutions 1,050 1,052 - - - 1,052
Trade accounts payable 72,778 72,778 - - - 72,778
Other payables 3,849 3,849 - - - 3,849
Short-term borrowings from
other parties 6 6 - - - 6
Debentures 152,996 20,808 22,632 79,362 62,083 184,885
Long-term borrowings from
financial institutions 88,332 92,009 2,450 1,020 141 95,620
Lease liabilities 50,583 8,678 8,006 18,568 26,723 61,975
Rental deposits from tenants 32 - 5 6 21 32
369,626 199,180 33,093 98,956 88,968 420,197
Derivative financial
liabilities
Forward exchange contracts 1
Forward exchange contracts
used for hedging: 4,386
- Cash outflow (69,786) - - - (69,786)
- Cash inflow 21 - - - 21
4,387 (69,765) - - - (69,765)
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Separate financial statements
Contractual cash flows
More than More than
1 year but 2 years but

Carrying 1 year less than less than More than
amount or less 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
(in million Baht)
At 31 December 2021
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Short-term borrowings from
financial institutions 13,493 13,500 - - - 13,500
Trade accounts payable 38,701 38,701 - - - 38,701
Other payables 8,103 8,103 - - - 8,103
Short-term borrowings from
subsidiary 1,400 1,421 - - - 1,421
Debentures 222,349 17,324 21,174 80,608 146,260 265,366
Lease liabilities 40,118 8,039 6,804 12,132 17,560 44,535
324,164 87,088 27,978 92,740 163,820 371,626
Derivative financial
liabilities
Forward exchange contracts 118
- Cash inflow 1,052 - - - 1,052
118 1,052 - - - 1,052
At 31 December 2020
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Trade accounts payable 36,493 36,493 - - - 36,493
Other payables 8,788 8,788 - - - 8,788
Debentures 152,996 20,808 22,632 79,362 62,083 184,885
Long-term borrowings from
financial institutions 79,620 86,443 - - - 86,443
Lease liabilities 42,018 7,688 7,085 16,374 15,026 46,173
319,915 160,220 29,717 95,736 77,109 362,782
Derivative financial
liabilities
Forward exchange contracts
used for hedging: 4,386
- Cash outflow (69,736) - - - (69,736)
4,386 (69,736) - - - (69,736)

The cash inflows/cash outflows disclosed in the above table represent the contractual undiscounted
cash flows relating to derivative financial liabilities held for risk management purposes and which are
not usually closed out before contractual maturity. The disclosure shows net cash flow amounts for
derivatives that are net cash-settled and gross cash inflow and outflow amounts for derivatives that
have simultaneous gross cash settlement.
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(b.3) Market risk

The Group is exposed to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk is as follows:

(b.3.1) Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk relating to borrowings from financial
institutions, purchases and sales of goods which are denominated in foreign currencies.
The Group primarily utilises forward exchange contracts with maturities of less than one
year to hedge such financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The
forward exchange contracts entered into at the reporting date also relate to anticipated
borrowings from financial institutions, purchases and sales of goods, denominated in
foreign currencies, for the subsequent period.
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Separate
financial statements
2021 2020
United States  United States
At 31 December 2021 Dollar Dollar
(in million Baht)
Cash and cash equivalents - 139
Trade accounts receivable and
other current receivables 3 -
Short-term loans to subsidiaries 2,155 -
Long-term borrowings from financial institutions - (66,551)
Net statement of financial position exposure 2,158 (66,412)
Forward exchange purchase contracts - 65,727
Forward exchange selling contracts (1,170) -
Net exposure 988 (685)

Sensitivity analysis

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the Thai Baht against all other
currencies as at reporting date would have affected the measurement of financial
instruments denominated in a foreign currency. This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
Impact to profit or loss Movement Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening
(%) (in million Baht)

At 31 December 2021

United States Dollar 1 (10) 10 (10) 10
At 31 December 2020

United States Dollar 1 (670) 670 (664) 664

(b.3.2) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future movements in market interest rates will affect the
results of the Group’s operations and its cash flows because some of loan interest rates
(Note 18 to the financial statements) are variable. The Group manages the interest rate
risk of financial assets and financial liabilities by considering fixed and floating rates
depend on the market situation.

Consolidated Separate
Exposure to interest rate risk financial statements financial statements
at 31 December 2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)

Financial instruments with

variable interest rates
Financial liabilities 72,799 - - -
Net statement of financial

position exposure 72,799 - - -
Interest rate swaps - - - -
Net exposure 72,799 - - -
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Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments

A reasonable possible change of 1% in interest rates at the reporting date; this analysis
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain

constant.
Consolidated financial Separate financial
statements statements
1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease
in interest in interest n interest in interest
Impact to profit or loss rate rate rate rate
(in million Baht)
31 December 2021
Financial instruments with
variable interest rate (137) 137 -

(c) Hedging accounting

(c.1) Cash flow hedges

The amounts at the reporting date relating to items designated as hedged items were as follows.

Foreign currency risk

31 December 2021
Borrowings

Foreign currency risk

31 December 2020

Investment in
associate

Borrowings

Change in
value used for
calculating
hedges
ineffectiveness

Consolidated financial statements

Cash flow Costs of

hedges hedging
reserve reserve
(in million Baht)
(10) 111

Balance remaining in the
cash flow hedges reserve
from hedging relationships
for which hedge accounting
is no longer applied

Consolidated financial statements / Separate financial statements

Change in
value used for
calculating
hedges
ineffectiveness

Cash flow Costs of

120

hedges hedging
reserve reserve
(in million Baht)
(4,699) -
392 -

Balance remaining in the
cash flow hedges reserve
from hedging relationships
for which hedge accounting
is no longer applied
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group held the following financial instruments to hedge
exposures to changes in foreign currency.

Consolidated financial statements

Maturity
1-6 6-12 More than
months months one year
(in million Baht)

At 31 December 2021
Foreign currency risk
Forward exchange contracts
Net exposure (in million Baht) - 50,807 6,787
Average USD: THB forward contracts - 33.80 33.90

Consolidated financial statements /
Separate financial statements

Maturity
1-6 6-12 More than
months months one year
(in million Baht)

At 31 December 2020
Foreign currency risk
Forward exchange contracts
Net exposure (in million Baht) 60,697 2,718 -
Average USD: THB forward contracts 32.00 32.60 -

The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments were as follows:

Consolidated financial Separate financial
statements statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)

Foreign currency risk

at 31 December
Forward exchange contracts

- nominal amount 56,814 67,358 - 67,358
Carrying amount included in:
- derivatives liabilities 876 4,307 - 4,307)

Foreign currency risk
for the year ended 31 December
Recognised in other comprehensive income
- changes in value of
the hedging instrument 2,622 (4,307) 2,564 4,307)
- hedging reserve transferred to

investment in associate - 4,699 - 4,699
- costs of hedging (111) - - -
Recognised in profit or loss
- reclassified from hedging reserve and ,

included in foreign exchange loss (2,632) (392) (2,564) (392)
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The following table provides a reconciliation of other components of equity and analysis of
other comprehensive income items resulting from cash flow hedge accounting.

Consolidated financial statements

2021 2020
Costs of Costs of
Cash flow hedges Hedging hedging Hedging hedging
- reserve foreign currency risk reserve reserve reserve reserve
(in million Baht)

Balances at 1 January - - - -

Change in fair value:

- borrowings 2,637 (139)

- investment in associate - -

Amount reclassified to profit or loss:

- borrowings

- tax on movements on reserve
during the year (13)

Amount included in cost of

non-financial item:
- investment in associate - - 4,699 -
Balances at 31 December (10) (111) - -

392 -
(4,699) -

(2,632) ; (392) )

Separate financial statements

2021 2020

Costs of Costs of

Cash flow hedges Hedging hedging Hedging hedging
- reserve foreign currency risk reserve reserve reserve reserve
(in million Baht)

Balances at 1 January - - - -
Change in fair value:
- borrowings 2,564 - 392 -
- investment in associate - - (4,699)
Amount reclassified to profit or loss:
- borrowings (2,564) - (392)

Amount included in cost of

non-financial item:
- investment in associate - - 4,699 -
Balances at 31 December - - - -

35 Capital Management

The objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns to the Company’s shareholders and benefits to
other stakeholders. The management sets strategies to support the Company’s operations for more
efficiency, and better performance and stronger financial status, including dividend and capital
management policies to maintain the optimal capital structure and cost of capital.
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36 Commitments with non-related parties

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2021 2020 2021 2020
(in million Baht)
Capital commitments
Contracted but not provided for
(construction cost of new plants and
installation cost of machinery, and
computer system development costs) 3,779 506 -
Total 3,779 506 -
Other commitments
Short-term lease commitments 109 - 104 -
Unused letters of credit for purchase
of goods and supplies 1,230 635 - -
Other commitments 9 - - -
Total 1,348 635 104 -

Letters of guarantee

As at 31 December 2021 the Group has commitments under letters of guarantee with financial
institutions, principally guarantee for utilities, rental agreements and others totaling Baht 3,290 million
and United States Dollars 0.3 million (2020: Baht 1,877 million and United States Dollars 0.3 million).

Significant agreements

As at 31 December 2021 the Group had the following significant agreements:

()

(®)

The Company has an area license agreement with 7-Eleven, Inc., which was incorporated in
the United States of America, to acquire a license to use the systems and trademarks of
7-Eleven, Inc. in connection with the operations of 7-Eleven convenience stores or franchising
of such operations to other retailers in Thailand. The Company has also obtained certain services
from 7-Eleven, Inc. in relation to training and technical assistance. In consideration thereof, the
Company is committed to pay royalties to 7-Eleven, Inc. calculated as percentages of total sales
of the 7-Eleven convenience stores that are operating in Thailand.

The Company has management agreements with local companies for their management of
the Company-owned 7-Eleven convenience stores. Under the terms of the agreements, the
Company is committed to pay management fees to those licensees calculated as percentages of
gross operating profits of these convenience stores. The Company is entitled to receive the
initial payments and royalties from those licensees in connection with the licenses granted for
operating these 7-Eleven convenience stores. These initial payments and royalties are not
refundable to the licensees in any case. The initial payments include deposits to guarantee the
licensees’ compliance with the agreements and any damage and/or liability that might be caused
by the licensees. In consideration thereof, the Company pays interest on the deposits calculated
at the time deposit rates announced by a local financial institution. These deposits will be
refunded to the licensees upon termination of the agreements.
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(©)

(d)

(®)

®

(2

()

The Company has sub-area license agreements for operating 7-Eleven convenience stores and
franchising such operations to other retailers (“licensees™). Under the terms of the agreements, the
Company will provide certain technical assistance and related services to the sub-area licensees.
In consideration thereof, the Company is entitled to receive royalties from the sub-area licensees as
percentages of total sales of the 7-Eleven convenience stores operating in the licensed areas.

A local subsidiary (Gosoft (Thailand) Co., Ltd.) has service agreements with local companies
(“the parties”), whereby the latter parties provide the installation and development of systems as
stipulated in the agreements. Under the terms of the agreements, the subsidiary is committed to
pay a service fee to the parties as stipulated in the agreements. These agreements are effective for
periods over 1 month to 12 months, and will expire on various dates until March 2022.

A local subsidiary (Counter Service Co., Ltd.) has service agreements with government entities and
state enterprises (e.g., utilities, telephone expenses, etc.), and other local companies (e.g., hire
purchase, life insurance premium, etc.) (“the parties”). Under the terms of the agreements, the
subsidiary is committed to operate payment centers to collect customer payments on behalf of the
parties then remits funds to the parties as the agreed procedures. The subsidiary can collect service
income from customers or local companies as stipulated in the agreements. These agreements are
effective for periods over 1 year to 5 years, and will expire on various dates up to August 2025. If
either of the parties has an intention to terminate the agreement, a written notification must be made
to the other party at least the number of day stipulated in the agreement before the expiry date of
the agreement.

A local subsidiary (CP Retailink Co., Ltd.) has repair and maintenance management service
agreements with local companies (“the parties”), whereby the latter parties agree to install and
repair and maintenance of computer equipment and software, utility systems, electric appliances
and other equipment used for operations in retail stores. Under the terms of the agreements, the
subsidiary is committed to pay a service fee to the parties as stipulated in the agreements. These
agreements are for a period of 1 year and are renewable for additional periods of 1 year. If either
of the parties has no intention to renew the agreement, a written notification must be made to the
other party at least 30 days before the expiry date of the agreement.

A local subsidiary (Counter Service Co., Ltd.) has service agreements with local financial
institutions (“the parties”). Under the terms of the agreements, the subsidiary is committed to
operate as banking agent for cash deposits, cash withdrawals and/or receipts of customers’ bills
then remits funds to the parties as the agreed procedures. The subsidiary can collect service income
from customers as stipulated in the agreements. These agreements are effective for periods over
1 year to 3 years, started and will expire on various dates up to December 2023. If either of the
parties has intention to terminate or has no intention to renew the agreement, a written notification
must be made to the other party at least the number of day stipulated in the agreement before the
expiry date of the agreement.

A local subsidiary (Counter Service Co., Ltd.) has service agreements with local financial
institutions (“the parties”). Under the terms of the agreements, the subsidiary is committed to
operate as agent for customer identification and verification. The subsidiary can collect service
income from the parties as stipulated in the agreements. These agreements are effective for periods of
1 year to 3 years, started and will expire on various dates up to November 2024. If either of the
parties has intention to terminate or has no intention to renew the agreement, a written notification
must be made to the other party at least the number of day stipulated in the agreement before the
expiry date of the agreement.
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0]

Foreign indirect subsidiaries (CP ALL (CAMBODIA) CO., LTD. and CP ALL LAOS COMPANY
LIMITED) have Master Franchise Agreements with 7-Eleven, Inc., which was incorporated in the
United States of America, to obtain franchising rights in the establishment and operation of 7-Eleven
convenience stores in Cambodia and Laos for a period of 30 years, which the parties may agree
to extend by two additional 20-year terms. The indirect subsidiaries are committed to pay a
monthly fee to 7-Eleven, Inc. calculated as percentages of total sales and other income of the 7-
Eleven convenience stores that are operating in Cambodia and Laos.

37 Events after the reporting period

37.1

372

373

At the Board of Directors’ meeting of the Company held on 24 February 2022, the Company’s
Board of Directors approved to propose to the annual general shareholders’ meeting of the
Company for approval to declare the dividends from the profit for the equity holders of the
Company for the year 2021 of Baht 0.60 per share for 8,983 million ordinary shares, totaling
Baht 5,390 million. The declaration of dividend payment must be approved by the shareholders’
meeting of the Company.

At the Board of Directors’ meeting of a local subsidiary (Siam Makro Public Company Limited)
held on 18 February 2022, the subsidiary’s Board of Directors approved to propose to the annual
general shareholders’ meeting of the Company for approval:

(a) to additional allocate profit to legal reserve amounted to Baht 318,616,175, totaling Baht
558,616,175 of reserve.

(b) to declare the dividends from the profit for the equity holders of the Company for the year
2021 of Baht 0.32 per share for 10,580 million ordinary shares, totaling Baht 3,386 million.
The declaration of dividend payment must be approved by the shareholders’ meeting of the
subsidiary.

Local and foreign subsidiaries increased the authorised share capital and called for additional

paid-up share capital. The processes of some subsidiaries had already completed in January
2022 and the remaining were expected to be completed in February 2022.
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38 Reclassification of accounts

Certain accounts in the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2020 have been reclassified
to conform to the presentation in the 2021 financial statements as follows:

2020
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements

Before After Before After

reclassi- Reclassi- reclassi- reclassi- Reclassi- Reclassi-

fication fication fication fication fication fication

(in million Baht)
Statement of financial position
as at 31 December

Other current assets 201 22 223 163 22 185
Property, plant and equipment 120,199 (22) 120,177 39,069 22) 39,047
Other current liabilities 968 (108) 860 - - -
Other non-current provisions - 76 76 - - -
Rental deposits from tenants - 32 32 - - -

These reclassifications have been made because, in the opinion of management, the new classification
is more appropriate to the Group’s business.
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